BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE

MONDAY 16TH MAY 2022
AT 6.00 P.M.

PARKSIDE SUITE, PARKSIDE, MARKET STREET, BROMSGROVE, B61 8DA

MEMBERS: Councillors H. J. Jones (Chairman), A. D. Kriss (Vice-
Chairman), A. J. B. Beaumont, G. N. Denaro, S. P. Douglas,
A. B. L. English, M. Glass, J. E. King, P. M. McDonald,
M. A. Sherrey and C. J. Spencer

AGENDA

To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes
Declarations of Interest

To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other
Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm
the nature of those interests.

To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Planning
Committee held on 11th April 2022 (Pages 1 - 10)

Updates to planning applications reported at the meeting (to be circulated
prior to the start of the meeting)

20/00643/FUL - Full Planning Permission for the use of land for the stationing
of 90 static residential park homes for the over 55s, with associated parking,
internal service roads, and landscaping and acoustic fence to the north, east
and west boundaries - Corbett Business Park, Shaw Lane, Stoke Prior,
Bromsgrove, Worcestershire, B60 4EA - Mongoose Ltd (Pages 11 - 72)

22/00116/FUL - Demolition of no's. 163 & 165 Birmingham Road and
construction of eight detached dwellings.163 - 165 Birmingham Road, land to



the rear of 151 and 157 Birmingham Road and 73 All Saints Road,
Bromsgrove - William & Jane and S. Thorn and Campbell (Pages 73 - 104)

22/00483/FUL - Detached double garage (retrospective) - 1A St Catherine’s
Road, Blackwell, Bromsgrove, B60 1BN - Mr. D. Jones (Pages 105 - 118)

To consider any other business, details of which have been notified to the
Head of Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services prior to the
commencement of the meeting and which the Chairman considers to be of so
urgent a nature that it cannot wait until the next meeting.

K. DICKS
Chief Executive
Parkside
Market Street
BROMSGROVE
Worcestershire
B61 8DA

5th May 2022



If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact
Pauline Ross

Parkside, Market Street, Bromsgrove, B61 8DA
Tel: 01527 881406

Email: p.ross@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

GUIDANCE ON FACE-TO-FACE
MEETINGS

At the current time, seating at the meeting will be placed in such a way
as to achieve as much space as possible for social distancing to help
protect meeting participants.

If you have any questions regarding the agenda or attached papers,
please do not hesitate to contact the officer named above.

GUIDANCE FOR ELECTED MEMBERS ATTENDING MEETINGS IN
PERSON

Members and Officers who still have access to lateral flow tests (LFTs) are
encouraged to take a test on the day of the meeting. Meeting attendees who
do not have access to LFTs are encouraged not to attend a Committee if they
have common cold symptoms or any of the following common symptoms of
Covid-19 on the day of the meeting; a high temperature, a new and
continuous cough or a loss of smell and / or taste.

Whilst the Council acknowledges that it is no longer a legal requirement to
wear face coverings, we would really appreciate if the Members who attend a
meeting in person would consider wearing a face covering throughout the
meeting unless they are exempt or speaking.

The meeting venue will be fully ventilated, and Members and officers may
need to consider wearing appropriate clothing in order to remain comfortable
during proceedings.


mailto:p.ross@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE

Members of the public will be able to access the meeting if they wish to do so.
However, due to social distancing arrangements to ensure the safety of
participants there may be limited capacity and members of the public will be
allowed access on a first come, first served basis.

Whilst the Council acknowledges that it is no longer a legal requirement to
wear face coverings, we would really appreciate if members of the public who
attend a meeting in person would consider wearing a face covering throughout
the meeting unless they are exempt or speaking. It should be noted that
members of the public who choose to attend in person do so at their own risk.

Members of the public are strongly encouraged not to attend a Committee
meeting if they test positive for Covid on the day of a meeting or up to 5 full
days before a meeting. Should the member of the public test positive for
Covid-19 on the day of the meeting or up to 5 full days before the meeting
then they are expected not to attend the meeting.

PUBLIC SPEAKING

The usual process for public speaking at meetings of the Planning
Committee will continue to be followed subject to some adjustments.
For further details a copy of the amended Planning Committee
Procedure Rules can be found on the Council’s website.

The process approved by the Council for public speaking at meetings of
the Planning Committee is (subject to the discretion and control of the
Chair), as summarised below:-

1) Introduction of application by Chair

2) Officer presentation of the report
3) Public Speaking -in the following order:-

a. objector (or agent/spokesperson on behalf of objectors);
b. applicant, or their agent (or supporter);

c. Parish Council representative (if applicable);

d. Ward Councillor



Each party will have up to a maximum of 3 minutes to speak, subject to
the discretion of the Chair.

Speakers will be called in the order they have notified their interest in
speaking to the Democratic Services Officer and will be invited to
unmute their microphone and address the Committee face-to-face or via
Microsoft Teams.

4) Members’ questions to the Officers and formal debate / determination.

Notes:

1)

2)

3)

4)

Anyone wishing to address the Planning Committee on applications
on this agenda must notify the Democratic Services Officer on 01527
881406 or by email to p.ross@bromsgroveandredditch.qov.uk
before 12 noon on Thursday 12t May 2022.

Advice and assistance will be provided to public speakers as to how
to access the meeting and those registered to speak will be invited to
participate face-to-face or via a Microsoft Teams invitation. Provision
has been made in the amended Planning Committee procedure rules
for public speakers who cannot access the meeting via Microsoft
Teams, and those speakers will be given the opportunity to submit
their speech in writing to be read out by an officer at the meeting.
Please take care when preparing written comments to ensure that the
reading time will not exceed three minutes. Any speakers wishing to
submit written comments must do so by 12 noon on Thursday 12t
May 2022.

Reports on all applications will include a summary of the responses
received from consultees and third parties, an appraisal of the main
planning issues, the case officer’s presentation and a
recommendation. All submitted plans and documentation for each
application, including consultee responses and third party
representations, are available to view in full via the Public Access
facility on the Council’s website www.bromsgrove.gov.uk

It should be noted that, in coming to its decision, the Committee can
only take into account planning issues, namely policies contained in
the Bromsgrove District Plan (the Development Plan) and other
material considerations, which include Government Guidance and


mailto:p.ross@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk
http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/

5)

other relevant policies published since the adoption of the
Development Plan and the “environmental factors” (in the broad
sense) which affect the site.

Although this is a public meeting, there are circumstances when
the Committee might have to move into closed session to consider
exempt or confidential information. For agenda items that are
exempt, the public are excluded.



Bromsgrove
District Council

www.bromsgrove.gov.uk

INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC

Access to Information

The Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 widened the rights of
press and public to attend Local Authority meetings and to see certain
documents. Recently the Freedom of Information Act 2000 has further
broadened these rights, and limited exemptions under the 1985 Act.

» You can inspect agenda and public reports at least five days before
the date of the meeting.

» You can inspect minutes of the Council, Cabinet and its
Committees/Boards for up to six years following a meeting.

» You can have access, upon request, to the background papers on
which reports are based for a period of up to six years from the date
of the meeting. These are listed at the end of each report.

» An electronic register stating the names and addresses and
electoral areas of all Councillors with details of the membership of
all Committees etc. is available on our website.

» A reasonable number of copies of agendas and reports relating to
items to be considered in public will be made available to the public
attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its
Committees/Boards.

» You have access to a list specifying those powers which the Council
has delegated to its Officers indicating also the titles of the Officers
concerned, as detailed in the Council’'s Constitution, Scheme of
Delegation.

You can access the following documents:
» Meeting Agendas
» Meeting Minutes

» The Council’'s Constitution

at www.bromsqgrove.gov.uk



http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 3

Planning Committee
11th April 2022

BROMSGROVEDISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE

MONDAY, 11TH APRIL 2022, AT 6.01 P.M.

PRESENT: Councillors A. D. Kriss (Vice-Chairman), A. J. B. Beaumont,
G. N. Denaro, S. P. Douglas, A. B. L. English, M. Glass,
J. E. King, P. M. McDonald, M. A. Sherrey and C. J. Spencer
(during Minute No’s 82/21 to 86/21)

Observers: Mr. R. Keyte (via Microsoft Teams)
Officers: Ms. C. Flanagan, Mr. D. M. Birch, Mr. S. Jones,

Mr. P. Lester, Ms. K. Hanchett, Worcestershire County Council,
Highways and Mrs. P. Ross (via Microsoft Teams)

82/21 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF
SUBSTITUTES

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors H. J. Jones and
M. Middleton.

It was noted that Councillor M. Middleton was due to attend as the
substitute Member for Councillor H. J. Jones.

83/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

84/21 MINUTES

The minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 7t" March 2022,
were received.

RESOLVED that, the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held
on 7t March 2022, be approved as a correct record.

85/21 UPDATES TO PLANNING APPLICATIONS REPORTED AT THE
MEETING

The Vice-Chairman announced that a Committee Update had been
circulated to all Planning Committee Members and announced a short
break in proceedings whilst Members read the Committee Update for
Planning Application 19/00615/0UT — Foxlydiate Hotel, Birchfield Road,
Redditch.

Page 1



86/21

Agenda Iltem 3

Planning Committee
11th April 2022

Accordingly, the meeting stood adjourned from 18:04pm to 18:06pm.

The Vice-Chairman apologised to all those present for the issues being
experienced with the IT equipment, which officers were trying to rectify.

Accordingly, the meeting stood adjourned from 18:07pm to 18:11pm.

Having resumed and due to ongoing IT issues, officers referred
Members to the presentation slides on pages 62 to 71, for Planning
Application 19/00615/0UT — Foxlydiate Hotel, Birchfield Road, Redditch.

19/00615/0UT - APPLICATION FOR OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION
WITH ALL MATTERS RESERVED, APART FROM DETAILS IN
RELATION TO ACCESS, LAYOUT AND SCALE FOR THE PARTIAL
DEMOLITION OF THE BUILDING AND FORMER WALLED GARDEN ON
SITE AND THE CONVERSION OF THE REMAINING PUB BUILDING
INTO 12NO. APARTMENTS ALONGSIDE THE ERECTION OF 38NO.
DWELLINGS, CHILDREN'S PLAY AREAS, LANDSCAPING AND
CIRCULATION SPACE (AMENDED DESCRIPTION), FOXLYDIATE
HOTEL, BIRCHFIELD ROAD, REDDITCH - WHITBREAD PLC

Officers referred to the Committee Update, which Members had been
given the opportunity to read and copies of which were provided to
Members and published on the Council's website prior to the
commencement of the meeting.

Officers presented the report and in doing so drew Members’ attention to
the presentation slides, as detailed on pages 62 to 71 of the main
agenda report. Officers further drew Members’ attention to the
‘Procedural Note,” as detailed on page 15 of the main agenda report.

The application site related to 1.9 hectares relatively level site that was
occupied by a two-storey building which was last occupied by a Premier
Inn and Brewers Fayre with associated parking.

The application which sought to erect 38 dwelling houses and 12
apartments, had been submitted in outline form, but also detailed means
of access, layout and scale to be considered. Officers drew Members’
attention to the presentation slide ‘Proposed Site Plan,” as detailed on
page 64 of the main agenda report. Amendments following submission
have secured the retention and conversion of the 1930’s portion of the
hotel and the remnant walls of the 19" Century walled garden, with
demolition of the later modern additions. External appearance and
landscaping would be matters for future consideration which would
require separate approval before development could commence.

The site fronts Birchfield Road, on the opposite side of Birchfield Road,
to the north-east of the site, was a new housing development comprising
29 dwellings. To the north-west was a garage and car dealership and to
the south-east a range of residential properties. To the south-west and
north-west the land was currently in agricultural use; but formed part of

Page 2



Agenda Iltem 3

Planning Committee
11th April 2022

the site which benefitted from a resolution to grant permission for a
mixed use development including 2560 dwellings.

Officers drew Members’ attention to the presentation slides, as detailed
on pages 64 to 69 of the main agenda report.

Officers further referred to the ‘Sustainable Communities’ information, as
detailed on pages 40 and 41 of the main agenda report.

Members’ attention was again drawn to the Committee Update, as
follows: -

Representations

The omitted date, on page 17 of the main agenda report, which related
to the receipt of the first representation from Bentley Pauncefoot Parish
Council was 08/06/2019

Leisure Services

An appropriate contribution for off-site provision (if required) was
currently being discussed with leisure colleagues, together with location.
Delegated authority to the Head of Planning, Regeneration and Leisure
was also being sought to resolve that issue.

Worcestershire County Council (WCC) Highways

For clarification, Tudor Grange Academy related to that located at
Redditch (Woodrow Drive, Redditch, B98 7UH). The Passenger
Transport at WCC had confirmed the advised contribution remained
relevant and necessary, based upon the costs of the dedicated schools
transport service as a result of the development proposals associated
with the application.

North Worcestershire Water Management
No objection subject to conditions.

Recommendation
As per the report from the Head of Planning, Regeneration and Leisure
but with additional provision (iv):

That the application be approved, and Outline planning permission be
GRANTED subject to DELEGATED AUTHORITY be given to the Head
of Planning, Regeneration and Leisure Services to:

)] agree a suitable and satisfactory legal mechanism to secure
the contributions and requirements set out in the following
schedule,

i) agree the final scope, detailed wording and numbering of the
planning conditions to be imposed as set out in the following
summary list,

i) to consider the content of any representation received post-
committee but prior to issuing of the decision notice (pending

Page 3



Agenda Iltem 3

Planning Committee
11th April 2022

completion of the s106 agreement) without reference back to
Planning Committee, and

iv)  agree an appropriate contribution and location for off-site
open space provision (if required).

At the invitation of the Vice-Chairman, Mr. J. McLeod, Planning Agent,
on behalf of the applicant addressed the Committee. Councillor A. Boss,
on behalf of Bentley Pauncefoot Parish Council, addressed the
Committee in objection to the application. Councillor P. J. Whittaker,
Ward Councillor, also addressed the Committee.

Members then considered the application, which officers had
recommended that outline planning permission be granted.

In response to the Vice-Chairman, officers clarified that with regard to an
Asset of Community Value (ACV), that the regulations listed a number of
situations where land or buildings were exempted from inclusion on the
list and that this included hotels, therefore it did not meet the criteria as
an ACV.

With regard to questions from the Committee in respect of the
application site being duly considered for the ongoing viability of the
business. The Committee were referred to the recent comments
received from North Worcestershire Economic Development, which
highlighted that the business had been marketed for over 12 months; as
detailed on pages 21, 22 and page 40 of the main agenda report.

In response to questions raised by Members regarding an increase in
traffic, the Highways Officer, Worcestershire County Council, stated that
the application had been fully assessed for additional trip generation.
There would be an increase in trips across the day and at the traditional
AM and PM peak hours in the region of 42 two-way trips during each
respective peak period. The impact on the local area had also been fully
assessed and it was not deemed that there would be an impact on the
highway or on highway safety.

Members thanked the public speakers and commented that the area had
always been contentious and that the site was not part of the Council’s
housing supply.

In response officers clarified that the site formed part of an allocation in
the Bromsgrove District Plan to meet Redditch Borough Council’s
housing needs.

Some Members commented that it was irrelevant as the site would
create much needed housing stock, which was desperately needed.

Members further queried the lack of connectivity between the proposed
site and the larger development.

Page 4



Agenda Iltem 3

Planning Committee
11th April 2022

In response the Highways Officer, WCC informed the Committee that
there would be a footway and cycle link to the larger site, her
understanding was that this had been agreed with the developer.

Officers drew Members’ attention to page 49 of the main agenda report,
which detailed the provision of a pedestrian/cycle link with the adjoining
development site subject to planning permission(s) 16/0263 and
2016/077. Officers had spoken with the developer of the larger site and
had alerted them to the position with regards to these links for continuity
across both schemes, and these links would form part of the legal
agreement and if there were any issues, officers would review.

Officers responded to questions from Members with regard to open
spaces and in doing so, informed the Committee that the existing tree
area was also classed as part of the wider open space. The
development did not have the capacity for all of the required open space
provision on-site, therefore the amended recommendation (iv), as
detailed in the Committee Update addressed this, in respect of off-site
open space provision. There were three key tests for the imposition of a
condition, the condition needed to be proportionate, related and
necessary.

The WCC Highways officer responded to further questions with regard to
the number of electric charging points being provided, and in doing so
stated that the number being provided met with their standard minimum
requirements.

Following a brief discission with regard to strategic planning, the
apartments being converted sympathetically to the heritage building; and
it being commented that people’s habits had changed and that if the
public house were still needed it would have been used; it was

RESOLVED that the application be approved, and Outline planning
permission be granted, subject to: -

a) delegated authority be given to the Head of Planning, Regeneration
and Leisure Services to:

i) agree a suitable and satisfactory legal mechanism to secure
the contributions and requirements set out in Schedule (i), as
detailed on page 16 of the main agenda report;

i) agree the final scope, detailed wording and numbering of the
planning conditions to be imposed, as detailed on pages 49 to
59 of the main agenda report;

iii) to consider the content of any representation received post-
committee but prior to issuing of the decision notice (pending
completion of the s106 agreement) without reference back to
Planning Committee; and

Page 5



Agenda Iltem 3

Planning Committee
11th April 2022

iv) agree an appropriate contribution and location for off-site open
space provision (if required).

At this stage in the meeting, the Vice-Chairman announced a short
comfort break and an opportunity for Committee Members to read the
Committee Update for Planning Application 21/01657/FUL - 277
Birmingham Road, Bromsgrove, Worcestershire, B61 OEP. Officers
further continued to resolve the IT issue.

Accordingly, the meeting stood adjourned from 19:11pm to 19:22pm.

87/21 21/01657/FUL - PROPOSED DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS
AND ERECTION OF 72-BEDROOM CARE HOME, 277 BIRMINGHAM
ROAD, BROMSGROVE, WORCESTERSHIRE, B61 OEP - LEO
BROMSGROVE LTD, CHLOE LEO BROMSGROVE LTD

Officers reported that following the publication of the main agenda
report, the applicant had made two further submissions, as follows:

e Reference to an appeal decision in Solihull Metropolitan Council
from March 2022 and the Planning Inspectorate’s decision.

e A Committee Briefing note, received on Friday 8" April, which
detailed information related to heritage and the site’s Green Belt
location.

as detailed in the published Committee Update, copies of which were
provided to Members and published on the Council’'s website prior to the
commencement of the meeting.

Officers presented the report and in doing so informed the Committee
that the proposed development was a full application for the demolition
of existing buildings and the development of a three-storey, 72-bedroom
care home with communal amenity areas and an extensive resident’s
garden and associated parking for 20 plus spaces.

The application site (0.72ha) consisted of the former Mount School
which was a three storey Victorian building that was now in
office/training use by KeyOstas who provided health and safety and
environmental training.

The Mount School was surrounded by several single storey outbuildings
that were disused. The buildings were in a depilated state.

The site was located in the Green Belt on the edge of the residential
area of Bromsgrove. A new development had been completed to the
south of the site with a run of residential dwellings located to the north.
Fields bound the site to the west. The site was served by a single
driveway off the Birmingham Road.

Page 6



Agenda Iltem 3

Planning Committee
11th April 2022

The proposed development would also include facilities such as dining
rooms, lounges, hair salon, cinema, family rooms, balconies and clinics.

Burghley Care (part of Torsion Care) had entered an agreement to
deliver the scheme, the nature of development proposed was that of a
care home (C2 use) to be registered with the Care Quality Commission
(CQC) for the provision of care to the elderly. The care home would
therefore cater for users including the elderly, dementia patients and
nursing patients. The development would employ up to 75 Full time
Equivalent (FTE) employees.

Members were further informed that with regards to the Green Belt, in
addition to its inappropriateness, the development would result in a
sizeable degree of harm to the openness of the Green Belt and would
conflict with three Green Belt purposes. In accordance with the NPPF,
such harm to the Green Belt should be afforded substantial weight and
that this weighting would form part of the planning balance.

Openness was capable of having both spatial and visual elements.
Spatially, the development would result in more built form across the
entirety of the site compared with the existing situation. The height,
footprint and volume of new buildings would greatly exceed the existing
building, as summarised in the table on page 77 of the main agenda
report. There would be a significant loss of openness in spatial terms
particularly for the undeveloped parts of the site.

With regard to planning balance, the applicant had outlined benefits of
the proposed redevelopment, which were summarised as follows:

e Provision of care accommodation — provision of 72 beds of care
accommodations, especially in the context of a wider lack of housing
land across the district, which had been furthered due to the
identification in January 2022 via the HDT 2021, that the LPA had
only been able to deliver 44% of its housing need over the past 3
years

e Provision of care accommodation against the identified shortfall of
this specialised use, as set out in the HPC assessment and
Carterwood analysis.

e Knock-on positive impact on the local housing market area, resulting
in the freeing up of homes due to the ability of those in need of care
to be moved into such a facility.

e Net gain in local employment opportunities, both immediate and long
term.

e Resultant impact on the reduction of pressure on local health care
facilities, together with the improvement of elderly people’s lifestyles,
who may be in and out of hospital or living alone. The development
of the care home would also reduce ‘bed blocking’

Page 7



Agenda Iltem 3

Planning Committee
11th April 2022

The development would also produce further economic and social
benefits in terms of construction jobs, and longer—term employment and
training opportunities in the caring professions and related services.
These considerations weigh heavily in favour of the application.

Officers referred to the impact on 277 Birmingham Road (Mount School)
as a non-designated heritage asset (NDHA). Non-designated heritage
assets were on the lowest rung of the hierarchy of heritage assets, they
did not have statutory protection and their loss required a balanced
judgement (NPPF paragraph 203). The NPPF did not seek to prescribe
how that balance should be undertaken, or what weight should be given
to any matter.

277 Birmingham Road was a three-storey red brick building in the
English Bond. The gables were detailed with decorative timber framing
on white background. The building was designed by the notable
Birmingham Architect Julius Alfred Chatwin and constructed between
1876 and 77. The building was originally built as the vicarage to All
Saints church, some 800 meters to its south. The Church itself was
erected slightly earlier, between 1872 and 1874.

The building was a vicarage until 1957 and then served as a school until
2004.

Members’ attention was drawn to the applicant’s heritage consultant’s
comments and the reasons why they were not in agreement with
officers, as detailed on pages 79 and 80 of the main agenda report.

Following on from the site visited carried out by Planning Committee
Members, officers were able to confirm the bedroom sizes. The existing
access route would be reviewed and renewed, with a pedestrian access
(footpath) to keep pedestrians off the main access route. The vast
majority of trees would be retained.

Officers drew Members’ attention to presentation slides, ‘Existing layout
with proposed overlay’ and ‘Existing and proposed roof heights.’

Members were further informed that the Conservation Officer had
advised that the proposed alterations would cause harm to the non-
designated heritage asset through the complete demolition of the
building. The proposals had failed to comply with the relevant sections of
the NPPF and Bromsgrove District Plan.

Officers further commented that, as detailed in the report; that on the
other side of the planning balance, there was no doubt that there was a
clear local need in Bromsgrove for all forms of elderly persons’
accommodation, and that this need was both urgent and growing.

Page 8



Agenda Iltem 3

Planning Committee
11th April 2022

However, in conclusion, despite the applications considerable merits,
their inherent conflict with both the development plan and national
policies, with regard to the harm to both the Green Belt and non-
designated heritage asset, had led officers to conclude that the
application could not be supported, and they would recommend refusal.

At the invitation of the Vice-Chairman, Ms. C. Parmenter, Planning
Agent, on behalf of the applicant addressed the Committee. Councillor
R. Hunter also addressed the Committee.

Members then considered the application, which officers had
recommended be refused.

Members further questioned the bedroom sizes and couples being
catered for and that the room sizes could not be referred to as homes,
as they were relatively small. Officers clarified that the bedrooms would
be approximately 20m? with en-suite facilities. Ultimately the issue of
exactly who the care home catered for was up to the care home owners.
The rooms were substantially sized and in excess of the requirements of
the CQC.

Members also queried the care home catering for dementia patients, as
there was nowhere in the text of the report detailing more specialist type
of care being provided.

Officers referred to page 76 of the main agenda report with regard to the
information provided by Burghley Care.

Members agreed that this was a difficult application to consider, as there
was a need for care homes in the Bromsgrove area. However, Members
understood that the proposed development would have an impact on the
openness of the Green Belt and that a non-designated heritage asset
would be lost, should the building be demolished. Officers had given
great weight to this.

RESOLVED that Planning Permission be refused for the reasons as
detailed on page 87 of the main agenda report.

The meeting closed at 7.56 p.m.

Chairman

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

Name of Applicant Proposal Expiry Date  Plan Ref.

Mongoose Ltd  Full Planning Permission for the use of land 25.09.2020 20/00643/FUL
for the stationing of 90 static residential park
homes for the over 55s, with associated EoT agreed
parking, internal service roads, and 20.05.2022
landscaping and acoustic fence to the north,
east and west boundaries

Corbett Business Park, Shaw Lane, Stoke
Prior, Bromsgrove, Worcestershire B60 4EA

Note: The application appeared on the published agenda of the Planning Committee of
5th July 2021 but was deferred on to permit the applicant to prepare a viability report and
for officers to consider this prior to the application being considered by Planning
Committee. That work has now been concluded.

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be Refused

Consultations

Stoke Parish Council 20/09/2021
OBJECTION

The Parish Council remain firmly and strongly opposed to this application. Their original
arguments against it remain unchanged as follows -

Traffic Issues

1. This part of Shaw Lane is a potential accident black spot with a very busy
entrance/exit onto the lane in close proximity to the railway bridge which has a traffic
management system due to the narrow roadway. Traffic heading out of the village
on this route would be on the site entrance very quickly.

2.  General visibility at the proposed entrance/exit would be impaired by vehicles
owned by employees at the Business Park parking on Shaw Lane both opposite and
alongside the site.

3. There have been a number of accidents along Shaw Lane going out of the village
towards Wychbold Church. This is a particular problem during the winter months.

4. Heavy lorries regularly access the Business Park and by increasing the number of
private vehicles also using the site could lead to accidents. It becomes a serious
safety issue.

5. By supporting this application, the number of vehicles in the immediate area could
increase by between 90 and 180 and this would be in addition to the increased
traffic caused by the Henbrook Gardens development. The local area has yet to
see the full impact of the additional traffic resulting from the Henbrook Gardens
development.

Page 11



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

6. The transport statement supporting the application is based on holiday and
retirement accommodation when the application clearly states "residential park
homes for the over 55s". Therefore the traffic patterns quoted in the statement are
not based on actual site usage. The statement also indicates that additional traffic
in the area was justified on the basis that it would be less than would be generated if
an industrial unit was built on the same site. Given that the site is unsuitable for any
industrial building that argument is invalid.

7.  The junction of Shaw Lane and Weston Hall Road at rush hour is very difficult and
potentially dangerous with speeding traffic from both directions. Weston Hall Road
is used as a 'rat run' to the Hanbury Road and short cut to Redditch and the M5.

Environment/Noise

1. The noise levels generated by the Business Park, neighbouring businesses such as
Metal & Ores and the nearby railway are not ideal for retirement living.

2. Concerns about the potential flooding issues for the site. The building of Henbrook
Gardens has already caused Hen Brook to flood on more than one occasion. There
are serious concerns that Hen Brook cannot cope with any further development.

Serious concerns about the ground pollution from the former salt works on the site.

The site has already been deemed as unsuitable for industrial use due to the
uncertainty of the ground being capable of supporting permanent buildings.

5.  The application makes no mention of the brine shafts under the site or the use of
lime during the period when it was occupied by the salt works.

6. There are issues around whether Excool adhere to the restrictions imposed under
their planning permission in that they operate during the night causing disruption to
local residents by way of noise and light pollution.

Parking

1. There is insufficient parking on the proposed site which will inevitably lead to an
increase in the number of vehicles parked on both Shaw Lane and Weston Hall
Road.

2. Moving the entrance gate back on the site will impact on the limited onsite parking
still further.

3. The assumption has been made that each home will only require 1 parking space
when there is every possibility that each home will have 2 vehicles. In the event that
more than 2 people are living at the home that figure could increase further. There is
also a total lack of visitor parking.

4. Residents will use private vehicles by chose due to the rural location.

Ecology Issues

1. Reduction of any natural habitat will further impact on the future sustainability of
local wildlife. The recent building has already had a significant impact on the
population of the great crested newts and other species such as grass snakes.

Page 12



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

General

1. There is a clear assumption that the retirement age is 55 which is totally incorrect.
Many people work until 65 and beyond. Many couples in their mid-fifties still have
offspring living at home which would put even greater pressure on the site in terms
of parking, traffic flow etc.

2. ltis claimed that the bridge which provides access across the canal will be
reopened. This used to be the link from the salt works to the railway but it has been
disused for a long time. Barratts were required to block it up under the supervision
of the Canals and Rivers Trust. It has never been used as a footbridge. The bridge
does not provide access to the canal but leads into a SUD which is part of the
Henbrook Gardens site. It is not a right of way.

3.  This further development would have a further unacceptable impact on the local
infrastructure.

4.  The current public transport links are already poor with bus services only running
from early morning to early evening. Not adequate for working people. The bus
service is only suitable for people who do not work and travel at off peak times.

5. The development would put further strain on the local health services.

6. There is a potential impact on local employment with homes on this site deterring
businesses from using the site.

7. There is only one route in and out of the site and any form of blockage ie broken
down vehicle would prevent emergency vehicles having good access.

8. There is already strong local opposition to the application.

Additional Info

The Parish Council remain strongly opposed to this application. None of the
additional new information has changed that view. The siting of 90 static homes on
this site is totally wrong for all the reasons clearly expressed in the Parish Council's
original letter of objection. This application is totally wrong for the village of Stoke
Prior!

Wychavon District Council

| confirm that Wychavon District Council is content for Bromsgrove District Council to
consider the application, taking account of the concerns raised by local residents. We do
suggest, however, that it would be appropriate to consult the Worcestershire Wildlife
Trust due to the proximity of the site to Hen Brook, which runs from the site to the Upton
Warren Nature Reserve and SSSI.

24.09.2021

Having looked over the amended plans, we do not wish to make any further comments
regarding the above application and our response remains as no objection, subject to the
scheme complying with local plan policies.

Page 13



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

BDC Housing Strategy

No Obijection

Strategic Housing are content to accept a commuted sum payment of £667,000 in lieu of
on-site provision of affordable housing. The development of park homes is not of a
traditional property type and local Registered Providers have no interest in purchasing
this type of stock for their portfolio.

BDC Caravan Licensing Team 30/07/2020
No Obijection

A Mobile Home Site License would be required if planning permission was granted and a
separate application would be required. The following are taken from the Site License
Conditions and therefore need to be considered: -

e No caravan or combustible structure shall be positioned within 3-metre of the
boundary of the site

e Every caravan must be spaced at a distance of no less than 6 metres (the
separation distance) from any other caravan, which is occupied as a separate
residence

e Every caravan shall stand on a concrete hard-standing which shall extend over the
whole area occupied by the caravan placed upon it, and shall project a sufficient
distance outwards from its entrance or entrances to enable occupants to enter and
leave safely. The hard-standings must be constructed to the current industry code
of practice, taking into account local conditions

e Roads shall be designed to provide adequate access for emergency vehicles and
routes within the site for such vehicles must be kept clear of obstruction at all
times. New roads shall be constructed and laid of suitable bitumen, macadam or
concrete with a suitable compacted base. All roads shall have adequate surface
water/storm water drainage. New two way roads shall not be less than 3.7 meters
wide, or if they are designed for and used by one way traffic, no less than 3 meters
wide.

e Both of the first two points are to prevent the spread of fire between units which is
dictated to by central government following a technical survey into the spread of
fire BRE IP 15/91 between caravans/mobile homes. I'm conscious that this may
impact upon the number of units allowed onsite.

Birmingham And Worcester Canal Society
No Comments Received To Date

Canal And River Trust 13/01/2021
No objection subject to conditions

Contamination and possible pollution

With regard to contamination, clay canals are not impervious to water ingress, as the
numbers of leaks throughout the inland water network testifies. We would expect that
following further investigation a suitable method pf preventing contamination of the
adjacent canal by from overland or ground water flows during the course of the
development should be agreed to protect the water environment. This may be dealt with
by way of suitably worded conditions on contamination mitigation and protection, but it is
not clear if further information will be forthcoming at this stage.

Page 14



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Once development has taken place surface water should be prevented from entering the
canal in an ad-hoc way by a suitable surface water system and this should include the
provision and maintenance of oil interceptors. Suitable methods to prevent pollution
entering any watercourse should be in place, but this is of particular concern to the Trust
of that watercourse then joins the canal.

It is noted that both the Environment Agency and Worcestershire Regulatory Services
also have concerns regarding contamination, including the water environment

Visual impact and Heritage

The proposed site is adjacent to the Canal Conservation Area but the impact on the
Conservation Area will be neutral if the canal side boundary continues to provide
screening, particularly as the fishing platforms have been removed and the path will be
relocated.

Ecology
The removal of the fishing platforms is welcomed as this allows a suitable landscape

buffer to remain, providing important habitat for the protected species in the area. The
Trust note the comment with regard to lighting and welcome the comment that their will
be no lighting adjacent to the canal. The Council should satisfy themselves that this
matter is adequately controlled to prevent additional lighting in the future. This may be
best dealt with by way of a condition. The Trust would expect lux levels to remain at zero
over the canal.

Drainage
We note that the applicant mentions that a detailed response is being prepared by Robert

West, to respond to our concerns. | am not aware that this has been received although
the limited information received does indicate that surface water drainage will go to Hen
Brook.

The applicant should be aware that flooding of the brook and overtopping of the canal
East of the Hanbury Road has occurred previously, which then continues downstream
towards the development site and there has also been a recent flooding issue South of
the site at Culvert 23A, of which WCC Highways, Bromsgrove DC and NWWM are
investigating. If Hen Brook discharges into the canal, then flooding and overtopping may
be exacerbated. We suggest that the drainage strategy requires more detail and
clarification, including any possible impact on the canal. The developer will have to satisfy
themselves, the Environment Agency and NWMM on these matters as the Canal & River
Trust are not a flood authority.

Fishing

As the applicant will be submitting revised plans which remove all angling components of
the application, concerns over the permission required to utilise the canal are no longer
relevant to the application.

The Railway Bridge

Whilst the Trust welcomes additional use of the towpath, we understand the difficulties
around the use of this bridge and note that this element will be withdrawn from the
proposal.

Page 15



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

WCC Archaeology 18/05/2021

| have assessed the amended application and can confirm that our response remains
unchanged. The site appears to have been used for brine waste throughout the 20th
century and therefore we will not be recommending further archaeological investigation
through condition, on this occasion.

BDC Conservation Officer 18/12/2020

The site is located to the north of the Canal and south of the railway line in Stoke Prior.
To the north east of the site there is some light industrial development as far as Stoke
Wharf. Immediately to the south of the Canal is a business park, and to the south west of
the site are some further light industrial units . The boundary of the site with the canal is
lined with trees and vegetation which obscures views into the site from the canal. The tow
path of the canal is on the far side of the Canal to the site. The site is currently vacant,
until the mid 20th century it would appear to have been undeveloped, it was then used for
the dumping of waste, indicated by the waste pits noted on the late 20th century OS
plans.

A draft Conservation appraisal and management plan was prepared about a year ago
and having gone through a public consultation process will hopefully be adopted as SPG
in the new year. The applicant has noted the appraisal in the heritage statement and has
highlighted the special character of the conservation area as noted in the document.

The W&B Canal Conservation Area covers the W&B Canal from the Southern Portal of
the Tardebigge Tunnel to Bridge 41 at Astwood Lane. For most of its length it covers just
the Canal and towpath. It expands out at various points to incorporate canal related
development, in addition to the historic hamlet at Stoke Prior.

In the context of the Midlands the W & B Canal is of considerable architectural, historic
and scenic interest. The influence of canals was phenomenal, completely revolutionising
industrial transportation. The Canal’s long sinuous form cuts a swathe through the rural
environment, notably the stretch from Tardebigge to Stoke Wharf which has changed little
since it was constructed at the beginning of the 19th century. The suburbs of Birmingham
including Selly Oak and Kings Norton and the Worcester end of the Canal would have
been equally rural at the time of construction but have changed beyond recognition unlike
this stretch of the Canal. Parts of Bromsgrove are visible at certain points, but despite the
expansion of the town, in long views it remains visually separated by countryside. The
curving course of the Canal adds significant visual interest and provides constantly
changing vistas. Canalside trees and hedgerow form boundaries along the canal
especially on the towpath side resulting in an enclosed setting to the canal in places. The
lack of traffic noise, and the sounds of running water and birdsong reinforce the rural
setting.

The stretch between Stoke Wharf and Bridge 42 at Stoke Works is more built up and
developed with business and industrial units. Historically this area had a number of
industrial works, most notably the John Corbett Salt Works, now redeveloped for housing.
Despite this development the countryside never feels far away. In respect of this area and
the proposed development site, the appraisal notes, ‘Beyond the Hanbury Road the
Canal continues in a south westerly direction, however the setting changes noticeably,
from a rural area to one comprising business units and light industry. To the north are the
units described above, and to the south is a business park/light industry estate. The

Page 16



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

industrial buildings to the north have existed since the construction of the Canal, although
they were significantly smaller in scale throughout the 19th century. The Canal uses were
relocated to Tardebigge in the 1920s and it is likely that the buildings were altered and
extended after this time. The south side of the Canal only began to be developed in the
1950s, original as an engineering works which has now been replaced with relatively
modern, but architecturally undistinguished B1 units.

The north side does remind us of the industrial past of some aspects of canal life,
although within the C A as a whole these pockets were relatively small. There were,
however, wharves distributed along the canal at regular intervals in the 19th century and
early 20th century, but most have disappeared altogether.

Where the Canal bends marginally in a south south/westerly direction development
peters out on the north side, with a late 20th century building, residential in appearance
with a warehouse unit behind. Views are then obscured in a westerly direction on the far
bank by hedgerow and rough planting. This reinstates the sense of a rural setting again in
this direction.’

In summary the setting of the Canal is predominantly rural. There are pockets at the
southern end where there is light industry and other business uses, but they are generally
on sites that were developed in the 19th century to benefit from a canal side location for
transportation. Despite this the countryside does not feel far away.

The proposed development site appears to have been un-used until the mid 20th century
when it was then used to dispose of waste. It is currently screened from the Canal and as
noted above reintroduces the sense of the predominant rural setting of the Canal in the
more industrial section. The proposed caravan park , especially given its intensive nature,
would be alien to the area bringing a suburban feel to the predominantly rural setting of
the Canal, which would be at odds with its character. That said views of the caravans
from the canal would be largely obscured by the existing screening, although how
effective this would be during the winter months is debateable. The plans submitted also
show a path through the existing trees close to the canal. The towpath for the Canal is
located to the south of the Canal and constructing a path on the north side, albeit slightly
set back could potentially undermine the significance of the historic towpath and our
understanding of the way canals operated historically, it would also potentially reduce the
tree coverage along this boundary.

The landscape plan submitted does not contain sufficient information to assess how
effective it would be at maintaining the existing summer screening, and it is likely that it
would need to be reinforced to provide better screening in the winter. It is not suggested
that evergreens are added to achieve this. In conclusion it is considered that a caravan
park would be an alien addition to the setting of the predominantly rural setting of the
Canal, contrasting as well with the industrial pockets found along the Canal. The proposal
is therefore at odds with the historic environment policies in the Bromsgrove District Plan
noted above. A considered landscape plan may however mitigate the harm by
maintaining and reinforcing the current screening of vegetation and trees. If you are
minded to approve the scheme it is suggested that you condition a landscaping scheme
unless the applicant is able to provide more detailed information on this aspect of the
scheme prior to determination.

Page 17



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

07-06-2021

| previously commented on this scheme in December 2020. The revised information
submitted would not appear to address any of the concerns expressed and | therefore
stand by my December comments.

| had suggested in those comments that more information on the proposed landscaping
should be submitted, and | note that the CGI at point 1.48 in the revised Planning
Statement would appear to be at odds with the proposed landscape plan, and this
discrepancy at least should be addressed.

Natural England 11/12/2020

No objection

Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development
will not have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and has no objection.

Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development
will not damage or destroy the interest features for which the site has been notified and
has no objection

BDC Ecology 06/04/2021

| have previously reviewed and made comments on the application on 7th
July 2020. My comments below relate to the Geriant John Planning letter regarding the
planning response dated 30" October 2020.

Species and Habitat Mitigation

| can confirm that | do not have issue with and support the outline mitigation proposals
suggested within the Ecological Impact Assessment prepared by EcoTech in May 2020.
A condition should be made in relation to section 5 of the report so that the mitigation,
compensation and required licencing is obtained following consent and prior to
commencement on site. The condition should only be discharged once suitable and
appropriate information has been provided.

In terms of clarification in relation to my previous comments, my main concern is how the
mitigation will be achieved in relation to the development proposals. What is not clear is
how the mitigation proposed will be incorporated into the proposed layout/scheme and
the mechanism for ensuring habitats and protected species are safeguarded prior to,
during and post development. At present the layout scheme prepared byPark Evolution
(May 2020) is too illustrative and does not reflect the mitigation strategy proposed. For
example, refugia are proposed within the site but these are not shown on the plan.
Geriant John Planning have proposed that a revised landscape plan and a new
management plan will be undertaken to address these points and will form a pre
commencement planning condition. This is for a full planning application and my
preference would really to have the mitigation/compensation/enhancement resolved, at
least in outline form, prior to determination so that there is no ambiguity in relation to the
scheme prior to works on site. However, it is for the planning officer to determine how
best to deal with the timing and submission of information required for mitigation in
relation to the application.

Page 18



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Badgers
A walk over/ pre-commence check for badgers should be undertaken. As per my previous
comments, | would recommend that this forms a pre commencement condition.

Canal Corridor

The habitat along the canal corridor should be retained and enhanced. Again, this should
form part of the general mitigation strategy related to a more resolved landscape scheme.
If artificial lighting is to be installed along the footway, then this needs to be preapproved
by the applicant’s ecologist to ensure there are no affects on foraging and commuting
bats. This can form part of a pre commencement condition.

Environment Agency 11/10/2021

We note the Phase 1 desk study dated June 2021 (updated) — report no. 21133/1. The
risk to groundwater (controlled waters) as concluded in the report is low. We think the
human health risk is more the issue with this one. We note the comments of
Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS) and are happy to go with the conditions they
recommend, in line with our previous recommendations.

North Worcestershire Water Management 21/05/2021

| note in the applicant's letter they put NWWM in the list of no objections / conditions can

cover issues however looking back at my comments for this site | recommended that the
application is deferred until further information is received ' for clarity I've summarised my
concerns below. Points 1 and 3 relate to issues which | believe need to be sorted before

planning permission is granted.

- No dwelling should be placed over the culvert (the drainage strategy in the original
application suggested this would be adhered to but the latest plan does not) ' | think this
matter needs to be clarified before a decision is made rather than approve a plan which
might allow for building over a culvert; the site layout may need to be tweaked to comply
with this?

- A culvert survey should be carried out to ensure no defects (this can be conditioned).

- Some areas of the site are susceptible to surface water flooding which may be
hazardous (depth & velocity) ' due to the proposed use of the site these areas should be
avoided. Similarly to point 1, this needs to be clarified before a decision is made.

- The revised documents suggest the use of bioretention filter drains; this is welcomed as
part of a SuDS strategy but | would like to reiterate that these should be lined and
outfalling into the culvert (at a limited discharge rate) to reduce the mobilisation of
contaminants, if present, due to the site being a former landfill site. It is not clear from the
cross-section of they will indeed be lined, but this may be conditioned as part of the
detailed drainage strategy.

- The discharge rate of the site is covered in the additional material so no further

comments regarding this however there appears to be two connections into the culvert,
with the 26 or so units to the South not passing through the attenuation tank; | would like

Page 19



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

clarification that a similar arrangement will be used for this area and where flow controls
will be located.

- Further detail was requested regarding the capacity of the pond ' it must have capacity
to drain the developed area of the site on top of the current area assumed to drain into it
with sufficient free-board. | note that the revised strategy by-passes the pond and
connects only to the culvert; this is fine but | require details on the sizing of the
attenuation tank(s) proposed. This can be conditioned.

- The .MDX file for the microdrainage calculations was requested ' this can be
conditioned.

- Finally I requested information on the adoption and maintenance of the SuDS and
drainage features, including the culvert ' this can be conditioned.

BDC Leisure Play Provision

We would recommend that the design of the access routes along the canal corridor are
linked into the residential proposal and provide easy access for all abilities. Consideration
should also be given to the central pond area to ensure this has natural surveillance for a
water risk management perspective and include the appropriate mitigation measures to
ensure residential safety - particularly considering visiting families. Leisure would also
recommend appropriate outdoor facility provision for this age group - this could be in the
form of outdoor fitness trail or similar to be provided on site or off site within the locality

Play provision should be calculated for the residential impact locally and provided at the
Parish Council Play Area at Shaw Lane as an offsite contribution

BDC Leisure - Open Space/Parks 09/12/2020

Open Space layout -. SUDs needs to be planned to ensure Rospa Water Safety
measures are included to manage water safety on site.

North Worcestershire Economic Development And Regeneration (NWEDR)
18/03/2021
OBJECTION

The applicant is seeking permission for 90 static homes for the over 55's at Corbett
business park on existing employment land.

The site has been split into phase | and phase Il. In 2018 a new warehouse was
constructed for a occupier looking to expand their business, this part of the site remains
occupied.

Due to the relatively recent new occupier on part | of the site, this site shows potential as

employment land as should continue to be marketed and protected for future employment
use.

Page 20



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

In addition, adding a residential site into an already active business park could have an
impact on the future use of surrounding employment sites, restricting use due to noise or
traffic close to a residential development.

28.09.2021

The site in question is employment land in a designated employment site in Stoke Prior.
NWedR strive to protect employment land where possible and are of the opinion that a
caravan park in this location could affect the use of neighbouring employment land on the
business park in the future.

BDC Waste Management
Comments Awaited

WCC Education Authority

This development is currently detailed to be for ‘over 55’s’, which would likely have a
lower impact on local education places than all-age dwellings of this type. Although the
detail describes aspirations for an over 55’s residential park, the only way a restriction
upon the occupancy of the caravans could be enforced, would be to impose a planning
condition or clause in a legal agreement which restricted the occupancy of the caravans
to a particular age range. At present, no such condition has been agreed for this site.
Without such a condition, or clause in a legal agreement, the development could be
occupied like any other residential scheme and therefore have an impact upon local
education provision which would then reasonably warrant a contribution.

Therefore, until such an enforceable condition or legal restriction is agreed, this
application has been treated similarly to that of an application for all-age static
residential park homes

The development site is situated in the district of Bromsgrove where a three-tier system
of education is in operation. The schools considered to be directly related to the proposed
development are the catchment area schools of Stoke Prior First School, the shared
catchment area of Aston Fields Middle and St John’s CE Middle Schools and South
Bromsgrove High School. The area is also served by Rigby Hall Special School, a broad-
spectrum special needs school for children aged 3 to 19 with a range of learning
difficulties and/or autism

Planning Obligations Sought In response to the proposed planning application as
submitted, an education obligation will be sought across the whole development.
First School Contribution = £397,364

Middle School Contribution = £337,299

High School and Sixth Form Contribution = £349,482

SEND Contribution = £72,248

Plus Secondary year groups = £99,852

Total Contribution = £1,256,245

Page 21



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

The contribution rate is applicable as at April 2020. Indexation will be charged from the
date of this statement. Contribution to be paid on or before occupation of one third of
dwellings. Payment in instalments will be considered but first payment must be received
before occupation of one third of the dwellings and full payment must be received before
occupation of the final dwelling. A monitoring fee will also be applicable to this site.
Should an appropriate enforceable condition / legal restriction be applied to this
site, then this site would be subject to no education contribution.

WRS - Contaminated Land 19/05/2021
No objection
Based on the review of: Phase | Desk Study (Georisk Management Ltd, June 2021)

This updated report was submitted following concerns raised by WRS regarding the
originally submitted report, which did not consider risks to human health adequately.
The Phase | Desk Study adequately reviews the history and environmental setting of the
site. It also includes summaries of previous reports and investigations undertaken on the
site. Data previously obtained from chemical sampling of the on site soils shows they do
present a risk to human health. There is also a potential risk from ground gases being
generated by the buried waste. However, the most recent site investigation data was
collected in 2003 and as such it is not known what the site condition is currently. Of
particular note is the recent addition of up to 2m of fill imported to the site, the
composition of which is unknown.

It is concluded that a new Phase Il investigation is required to obtain current data on the
condition of the site, both geochemical and geophysical, to aid the development of an
accurate understanding of the site’s condition, and devise a suitable remediation strategy
to make it suitable for development. | agree with this recommendation.

Recommendations:

Knowledge of the site suggests that contamination issues may potentially be a significant
issue. As a result, in order to ensure that the site is suitable for its proposed use and
accordance with The National Planning Policy Framework, pre commencement
Conditions are recommended for inclusion on any permission granted. The National
Planning Policy Framework advises that Planning Decisions should ensure the site is
suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions, pollution arising from
previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation. The
Framework also requires adequate site investigation information be prepared by a
competent person is presented.

WRS - Noise 28/09/2021

OBJECTION

Noise Assessment Review

This report is comprehensive and recommends mitigation to comply
BS4142:2014+A1:2019 and BS8233:2014. Compliance with these standards require the
construction of an acoustic enclosure around the site perimeter. The report specifies A
6m high bund / acoustic fence combination along the north eastern boundary and a 2-3m

Page 22



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

acoustic fence along the northern railway line boundary with a recommendation to extend
this to the south western boundary. If planning permission is granted, WRS recommend
that a 3m acoustic fence should be installed along the northern and south-western
boundaries and a revised plan should be submitted detailing the extent, height and
surface density of the all acoustic fencing.

Uncertainty

Environmental noise is dynamic in nature and for this reason assessments will always be
a snapshot in time. When WRS review the work of consultants acting on behalf of
applicants WRS will critique the technical elements and based on the use of British
Standards will also make requests for additional attention if warranted. However,
uncertainty also plays a significant part of our review and WRS believe that this is an
important factor in concluding its advice to the LPA.

Acoustical uncertainties present themselves where the general noise landscape in an
area may be less predictable. This is true of industrial estates as they are a place of
employment, manufacturing, waste management, distribution of goods and major
transport links as seen in this application. For this reason the dynamics of sound can
change unpredictably and in our experience the sighting of residential properties cheek
by jowl with industrial use on nearly all sides, presents a significant level of uncertainty in
securing a long term noise amenity levels that are acceptable to future residence
regardless of good attenuation and compliance with British standards. Visa Versa
sighting of residential property next to industrial units in this fashion can expose existing
business to legal liabilities as noise complaints from such developments of similar layout
are common and can potentially limit the type of industrial use that can be reasonably
undertaken without giving rise to actionable noise complaints.

Conclusion

WRS believe that the recommendations made by the noise report are satisfactory and
address the points of concern in pure acoustic terms. Nevertheless, WRS believe that
the level of uncertainty with regard to local noise raises significant concerns of
incompatibility with that of residential use and for this reason we are unable to support
this application.

Recommendation

WRS object on the grounds of noise amenity.

WRS - Air Quality 19/05/2021

WRS have reviewed the application in relation to local air quality. No specific air quality
concerns have been identified in the development area. Given the size of the proposed
development you may wish to incorporate the standard air quality mitigation measures for
residential development to help alleviate pollution creep and encourage uptake of low
emission vehicles. The standard air quality mitigation measures wording is attached for
your consideration.

Page 23



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Air Quality Conditions

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Paragraph 181 states: 'Planning policies
and decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values
or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality
Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual
sites in local areas.’

It is recommended the applicant incorporate mitigation measures as part of the
development to minimise impact from the development on local areas of poor air quality
and assist in alleviating pollution creep arising in the general area. WRS therefore make
the following recommendations in accordance with NPPF Paragraphs 102, 103, 105,
110, 170, 181:

Secure Cycle Parking

It is recommended that secure cycle parking facilities are incorporated into the design of
commercial developments and domestic plots without sufficient exterior space to allow for
secure cycle storage. Full details of the location, type of rack, spacing, numbers, method
of installation and access to cycle parking should be provided.

Electric Vehicle Charging - Domestic Development

The provision of more sustainable transport modes will help to reduce CO2, NOx and
particulate emissions from transport. In order to make the properties ready for EV
charging point installation, appropriate cable provision and isolation switches must be
installed that can be adapted to an appropriate dedicated socket for electrical vehicles to
be charged in the garage, driveway or allocated car parking space. For developments
with unallocated parking i.e. flats/apartments 1 EV charging point per 10 spaces (as a
minimum) should be provided by the developer to be operational at commencement of
development.

Low Emission Boilers

Boiler NOx emissions from building heating systems contribute to background NOx
concentrations and the following condition is recommended to alleviate impact from new
buildings.

NHS/Medical Infrastructure (Worcestershire Acute Hospitals Trust)

No Obijection subject to contribution towards local health care provision

The Trust is currently operating at full capacity in the provision of acute and planned
healthcare. A contribution of £59,565.48 is being sought not to support a public body but
rather to enable that body (i.e. the Trust) to provide services needed by the occupants of
the new homes. The development directly affects the Trust’s ability to provide the health
services to those who live in the development and the community at large. Without
contributions to maintain the delivery of health care services at the required quality
standard, and to secure adequate health care for the locality, the proposed development
will strain services, putting people at significant risk of receiving substandard care,
leading to poorer health outcomes and prolonged health problems. Such an outcome is
not sustainable and will have detrimental socio-economic impact on the community.

Page 24



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

The Trust acknowledges that housing developments are constructed and occupied in
phases and therefore is willing to negotiate staged payments of the total sum claimed.
The money will be spent to meet the marginal costs of direct delivery of healthcare for the
additional population. This will include the cost of medical, nursing and other health
professional staff, which may be incurred at a premium rate. The money will also meet
increases in other direct costs associated with healthcare delivery, for example,
diagnostic examinations, consumables, equipment.

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (GP Surgeries) 02/06/2021

The proposed development is likely to have an impact on the services of 1 GP practice.
The GP practice does not have capacity for the additional growth resulting from this
development. The proposed development will be likely to have an impact on the NHS
funding programme for the delivery of primary healthcare provision within this area and
specifically within the health catchment of the development. Herefordshire and
Worcestershire CCG would therefore expect these impacts to be fully assessed and
mitigated.

Summary position for primary healthcare services within catchment (or closest to) the
proposed development

The existing GP practice does not have capacity to accommodate the additional growth
resulting from the proposed development. The development will generate an additional
216 residents and subsequently increase demand upon existing constrained services.

The development would have an impact on primary healthcare provision in the area and
its implications, if unmitigated, would be unsustainable. The proposed development must
therefore, in order to be considered under the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable
development’ advocated in the National Planning Policy Framework, provide appropriate
levels of mitigation.

Healthcare Needs Arising From the Proposed Development

The intention of Herefordshire and Worcestershire CCG is to promote Primary Healthcare
Hubs with co-ordinated mixed professionals. This is encapsulated in the strategy
document: The NHS Five Year Forward View.

The development would give rise to a need for improvements to capacity, in line with
emerging STP estates strategy, by way of new and additional premises or infrastructure,
or extension or alterations to existing premises.

Table 2: Capital Cost calculation of additional primary healthcare services arising
from the development proposal

we are willing to accept the applicant’s assumption that the average household of a static
residential park home is 1.7 persons. We have therefore re-calculated the sum the CCG
is requesting as follows:

Additional | Additional floorspace Capital required
. . . to create
Premises Population | required to meet o
additional floor
Growth growth (m2)
space (£)
Davenal House Surgery | 153 10.49 24,127

Page 25



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Resulting in a request for a developer contribution of £24,127.

A developer contribution will be required to mitigate the impacts of this proposal.
Herefordshire and Worcestershire CCG calculates the level of contribution required in this
instance to be £24,127. Payment should be made before the development commences.

Herefordshire and Worcestershire CCG therefore requests that this sum be secured
through a planning obligation linked to any grant of planning permission, in the form of a
Section 106 planning obligation.

Conclusions

In its capacity as the primary healthcare commissioner, Herefordshire and Worcestershire
CCG has identified that the development will give rise to a need for additional primary
healthcare provision to mitigate impacts arising from the development.

The capital required through developer contribution would form a proportion of the
required funding for the provision of capacity to absorb the patient growth generated by
this development.

Assuming the above is considered in conjunction with the current application process,
Herefordshire and Worcestershire CCG would not wish to raise an objection to the
proposed development. Otherwise the Local Planning Authority may wish to review the
development’s sustainability if such impacts are not satisfactorily mitigated.

The terms set out above are those that Herefordshire and Worcestershire CCG deem
appropriate having regard to the formulated needs arising from the development.
Herefordshire and Worcestershire CCG is satisfied that the basis and value of the
developer contribution sought is consistent with the policy and tests for imposing planning
obligations set out in the NPPF.

WCC Highways 06/06/2021
No objection subject to conditions and s106 obligations

Context

The Highway Authority are in receipt of a full application for the provision of 90 static
residential park homes at Corbett Business Park, Stoke Prior. The Highway Authority
previously advised no objection in formal highway observations dated 18th August 2020.
Following the re-consultation, the Highway Authority once again appraised the
Application and have reached the same conclusion. However, this response now includes
the full conditions and financial obligations required to make the site acceptable. This
response supersedes previous highway response.

Proposed Development

The site lies on the southern side of Stoke Prior, Bromsgrove and to the north of
Worcester. Stoke Prior comprises of a mix of land-uses including residential and business
development.

Page 26



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

The proposed development consists of over 55s modular park homes including private
driveway, segregated from employment traffic to Corbett Business Park. The total site
area comprises some 4.47 hectares (ha).

Proposed Site Access

The proposed vehicular access to the site is by an existing private industrial access
connection onto Shaw Lane used by traffic to and from Corbett Business Park. The
internal access road to Corbett Business Park divides into two routes at an internal
junction. A wide track is provided to the west and north of the existing industrial units
whilst parking and access to the businesses are provided on the southern side of the
building. The internal arrangement would be an entirely private arrangement. The existing
access is sufficient in width with adequate visibility. However, this would be over
designed for a residential usage. The existing access is currently gated and provides
access into an industrial facility. It is noted that to gain access to the site, occupiers would
drive through the existing industrial site. A residential site sharing access with an existing
industrial site is highly unorthodox, however, this is an entirely private arrangement. The
arrangement does not provide a segregated pedestrian point of access clear from
vehicular movements including HGVs. The current footway tapers where the existing
gates are in situ, and based upon the current arrangement, pedestrians leaving the site
will have to enter the private roadway, sharing road space with vehicles. Turning to
supporting plan P026C26-11-REV A, Location Plan, the indicated blue-line boundary
shows control over the access arrangement

Pedestrians should be segregated from car and HGV movements, ensuring that safe and
suitable access for all users at the point where they join the public highway. A planning
condition has been advised that requires the existing access arrangements to be altered
and provide a continuation of a 3m footway into the development for sufficient distance to
ensure pedestrians and cyclists are segregated from HGV movements.

Traffic Impact

The Trip Rate Information Computer System (TRICS) database was used to generate trip
rates for employment/ industrial use, residential/ retirement flats and fixed caravan
accommodation for means of comparison

Typical traffic generation for 90 retirement flats generated by TRICS was 21 two-way trips
in the AM peak (08:00 — 09:00), 16 two-way trips in the PM peak (17:00 — 18:00) and a
total of 290 two-way trips between 07:00 and 19:00. The TS identifies that this would
likely not be fully representative of the trip generation for the proposed development and,
therefore, presents the trip rates associated with a similar development in Welford. The
trip rates for this are presented below:

* 10 AM peak two-way trips (08:00 — 09:00);

» 8 PM peak two-way trips (17:00 — 18:00); and

« 150 two-way total trips (08:00 — 18:00).

The site the above rates were derived from is considered comparable in terms of location
and use to the proposed development. The Highway Authority, therefore, is satisfied with
this.

Page 27



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Local Amenities and Bus Infrastructure

The TS notes that the nearest bus stops are at the railway Bridges 240m from the
proposed development. However, this would be linear from the site to the bus stop. The
current pedestrian network would route pedestrian via the access on Shaw Lane to the
near bus-stop near the Railway overbridge on Shaw Lane. This is a distance of
approximately 700m.

A contribution of £700.00 is requested to replace the life expired concrete bus stop poles
on Shaw Lane.

There will be an impact from this development on Community Transport for those
residents with limited mobility who are unable to access conventional bus services and to
access Acute Hospitals that are some distance from the location. Static caravan sites in
this geography tend to be occupied by a demographic who require the stated services.
Likewise, the Application Form states that this application is for the construction of 90
residential park homes for the over 55s along with associated parking and landscaping.
The County Council has specific duties to consider the transport needs of elderly and
disabled people under the Transport Act 1985 and more general duties under the
Equalities Act 2010. Based on data from the 2011 Census using the average population
mix for Bromsgrove residents over 55, the target group for this development, and the
Worcestershire Concessionary Travel Scheme, it is estimated that 36 residents could fall
in this category.

On this basis, the Highway Authority request a contribution of £22,600.00 to establish a
new Community Bus service serving the development on 2 days a week providing
shopping opportunities in Droitwich or Bromsgrove. Establishing the Community Bus,
registered under Section 22, would ensure that residents are able to access free
concessionary travel as on a normal bus.

Public Rights of Way

The TS states that no Public Rights of Way (PRoWSs) would be affected by the proposed
development. However, it does identify that a Stoke Prior 521(B) which follows an
alignment to the north side of the railway would provide a right of way for use by
pedestrians and cyclists.

Network Safety

In accordance with WCC'’s Streetscape Design Guidance (2020) a TS has been
produced. The TS identifies that no collisions were recorded within the vicinity of the site,
including the proposed site access between 2013 — 2018. A review of CrashMap has
identified that collision data is available for the most recent five-year period (2014 — 2019)
confirms the absence of collisions in this location.

Travel Plan

As per the provisions of the Streetscape Design Guide, the Highway Authority request
that the Applicant produces a Travel Plan and Residential Welcome Pack for all
residents. As part of this, the Applicant is required to undertake Personalised Travel
Planning (PTP).

Page 28



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Conclusion

The Highway Authority has undertaken a robust assessment of the application. Based on
the analysis of the information the Highway Authority concludes that impact on the local
highway would not be severe subject to the conditions and obligations outlined in this
report.

Conditions

1. Prior to commencement of development, details of a new 3m footway at the Shaw
Lane site access tying to the existing footway connecting into the site for a
minimum distance of 25m. This would be paved and kerbed providing segregation
for pedestrian from the existing roadway. This will be constructed by the Applicant
and maintained in perpetuity.

REASON: To ensure safe and suitable access for all road users.

2. The Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the Applicant has
submitted a Travel Plan in writing to the Local Planning Authority that promotes
sustainable forms of access to the development site and this has been approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This plan will thereafter be implemented
and updated in agreement with WCC'’s Travel Plan Co-ordinator and thereafter
implemented as updated.

REASON: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access.

3. The Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the Applicant has
submitted to and had approval in writing from the Local Planning Authority a
Residential Welcome Pack promoting sustainable forms of access to the
development. The pack shall be provided to each resident at the point of
occupation.

REASON: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access.
Obligations

1. A contribution of £700.00 is required to upgrade the bus stop on Shaw Lane.
REASON: To maximise use of sustainable travel modes and to encourage use.

2. A contribution of contribution of £22,600.00 is necessary Community Transport to
provide door to door transport for those residents unable to use conventional bus

services is required.

REASON: To maximise use of sustainable travel modes and provide
transport for those residents unable to use conventional bus.

Page 29



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Network Rail 21/12/2020

No objection

Due to the proposal being next to Network Rail land and our infrastructure and to ensure
that no part of the development adversely impacts the safety, operation and integrity of
the operational railway we have included asset protection comments which the applicant
is strongly recommended to action should the proposal be granted planning permission.

West Mercia Constabulary (Designing out crime) 18/05/2021
No objection or comments regarding this application.

Hereford & Worcester Fire And Rescue
Access to the static residential units, access widths and road surfaces should be suitable
for the attendance of fire appliances

Council’s Viability Consultant 28/04/2022

This is an unusual scheme in the nature of the product proposed. It is not a standard
estate housing scheme and the ground conditions on the site itself appear to mitigate
against a conventional development of estate housing.

The wider area is generally commercial, which places a challenge on achieving a robust
gross development value. However, having looked at the applicant’s figures here they
appear reasonably in line with my own and on this basis appear fair.

Both sides are reasonably in agreement on the land value benchmark for the site.

Where there remains some difference, is in relation to construction costs. | have
commented that the costs of the proposed (modular) construction look higher than for
traditional build. The proposed dwellings are also increased considerably in cost by virtue
of transportation costs. This makes them uncompetitive with traditional build although the
applicant is making the argument that traditional build would actually incur higher costs
because of the ground conditions. This issue would really only be resolved by
significantly more evidence and research and it may also lead us into arguments about
putative schemes with all the associated issues. This nevertheless remains an option
open to the Council.

| have nevertheless concluded a figure with Cecilia Fellows at Avison Young with regards
to an Affordable Housing contribution. The viable position, on the strength of the scheme
before us is 9 Affordable units and the payment as a commuted sum is £667,000. This is
calculated as the difference:

Residual Value at 10% Affordable Housing = £1,417,000 and

Residual Value at 0% Affordable Housing = £2,084,000.

This is an equivalent approach which should allow for Affordable units to be provided
elsewhere either by a RP or by the Council itself.

In arriving at this figure -

We are agreed on GDV and LVB; We are agreed on profit margin (I have moved here to
20% which is fair given current market uncertainty). | have moved the yield out from 4%
to 6% on the income element.

Page 30



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Representations from Local Residents

At the time of preparing this report 218 representations, comprising 213 objecting to the
proposal, 4 making comments and 1 representation in support, had been received A
proportion of the representations are from the same households, primarily due to multiple
consultations during the course of the application.

Comments in Objection

TRAFFIC & HIGHWAYS
e The development would compromise road safety

The development would Increase air pollution

The proposal would compound road congestion

The proposal makes insufficient provision for off road parking

The access is in close proximity to the railway bridge which has a traffic

management system due to the narrow roadway

The canal bridge is unsuitable for more traffic

e The residential development to the south-east of the canal is still being built out
and consequently the full level of traffic from that development has not yet been
realised. This scheme will compound the situation.

e The junction around Shaw Lane and Westonhall Road is already dangerous with
many employees on Corbett Business park parking on the road around the
junction and close to the one lane section of Shaw Lane under the railway bridges.

e Traffic generation at peak times is massive, contrary to the applicant’s planning
statement

e The whole of Stoke Prior including Shaw Lane and Westonhall Road is part of a
rat run throughout the whole village to the M5 at peak times 07:30 - 09:00 and
16:30 - 18:00 daily. This traffic is passing to and from the three Business/Industrial
Estates on the Hanbury Road opposite Harris Brush Works, which is itself an
employer of 300+ employees

e Section 5.4 of the traffic report draws analogies to a site in Welford. The use may
be the same but the size of the village is not and also it is not adjacent to an
industrial area that has movement of heavy trucks.

ACCESS

e Visibility splays are inadequate at the access

e There are no plans to improve road access to the site off Shaw Lane apart from
relocating the entrance gate 20 metres back towards the industrial side.

e Mixing residential and employment traffic will result in HGV vehicles being
hampered entering the "employment site" with potential for them to block the
Highway until such a time they can proceed

e Traffic from the bridges turns left into the business park, sometimes at over
30mph. This traffic will be meeting traffic turning right from the access road to the
proposed development. Some sort of traffic management would be needed here to
increase visibility and reduce potential accidents between cars, trucks, cyclists and
pedestrians.

The development may be unsuitable for emergency vehicles

Page 31



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

DISPLACEMENT OF PARKING FOR EMPLOYMENT USES & ON STREET PARKING
e The planning application site photographs show an empty side road for access,
but recent aerial photographs show that this is used for general parking by the
factory/office employees.

e The entrance to the 11.05 acre site off Shaw Lane - between Westonhall Road
and the twin low bridges with single file access on Shaw Lane - vehicles are
parked on both sides of Shaw Lane on the pavements by employees of Corbett
Business Park, employees also park all along the 'suggested’ access road to the
site. Where are all these vehicles going to park IF the development goes ahead.

VEHICLE AND PEDESTRIAN CONFLICT
e There is currently no marked footway to segregate pedestrian and industrial traffic

UNSUSTAINABLE LOCATION
e The site is poorly served by public transport (1 bus an hour) and would place
undue reliance on the private car.

LACK OF AMENITIES ON SITE AND IN LOCAL AREA
e There are no buildings proposed on site to serve the needs of local residents.
e The units have insufficient amenity space
e Thereis only 1 village shop / post office.

PARKING PROVISION

e While the planning permission is for 90 retirement or holiday homes, some of the
units will have up to 5 bedrooms suggesting that without question, one parking
space per property, plus 5 visitor spaces is inadequate.

e Some of the units will have more than one car.

e The number of visitors will no doubt be more than that the available remaining
spaces so it is unclear where other visitors would park

e only 95 parking spaces for 90 dwellings, this is only going to Accentuate the
existing parking problems faced near the proposed development, where daily there
is a line of cars parked along the side of the road creating a hazzard for other
vehicles.

DISTURBANCE DURING DEVELOPMENT
e The proposed units would be bulky to transport and would be a logistical challenge
to get on site with narrow roads and bridges leading to the site and would cause a
huge inconvenience to residents and traffic in general, especially if diversions and
traffic systems were put in place.

ENFORCEMENT OF AGE LIMIT
¢ It would not be possible to practically monitor and enforce an age limit
e Any occupants under 55 would contribute towards existing adverse impacts upon
local infrastructure
e Many people work until 65 and beyond
e Many couples in their mid-fifties still have dependents residing with them

Page 32



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

INADEQUATE INFRASTRUCTURE FOR SCALE OF DEVELOPMENT
e Schools and GP services overstretched
e Occupation by over 55’s would inevitably place greater pressure upon local GP
services
e We have only a satellite surgery for the doctors and one small shop and school.
e The village has We have only a satellite surgery for the doctors and one small
shop and school.

LOSS OF EMPLOYMENT LAND
e The site is allocated in the adopted local plan for employment use and not for
residential development
e The site could be used for small units for start-up businesses, providing more
employment opportunities for local people, rather than encouraging inward
migration.

COMPATIBILITY WITH ADJACENT USES / RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

e The nature of adjacent land uses is likely to deter occupancy by those it is
intended to serve

e There will be an increase in light and noise pollution for current residents.

e Difficult to reconcile demand for such residential accommodation situated within
what would be an effective compound, with the canal on one side (with no
pedestrian access) and the railway on the other, sandwiched between industrial
uses.

¢ Noise from the factories can be heard in the surrounding areas from around 7 am.
This is highly likely to lead to conflict between the new residents and the factory
owners, causing many problems for both.

CONTAMINATED LAND
e The area has a history of salt mining, the full extent of which is unknown and
creates a hazard for any development which may not yet have been mitigated.

FLOOD RISK

e Flood risk to the properties adjacent to Henbrook. The drainage report states that
any extra discharge from non-permeable surfaces into Henbrook will be at
restricted rate. The culvert under the railway is increasingly running at maximum
capacity causing flooding downstream at the culvert under Shaw Lane. Any extra
water will add to the problem of flood water backing up into the adjacent gardens.

e The development proposes discharge of surface water into Hen Brook. The
culverts on Hen Brook are insufficient to deal with the current discharge from
previously built developments on the flood plain. Stream water backs up during
high rain periods and causes severe flooding to houses on Hanbury Road around
Stoke Wharf. There should be no further development without first enlarging the
culverts running through Metals and Ores and under the railway.

NOISE AND LIGHT POLLUTION
e The development would compound existing noise and light pollution issues

AFFORDABLE HOUSING
e The proposal would not deliver any affordable housing for the village

Page 33



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

SCALE & CHARACTER OF DEVELOPMENT
e A static caravan site would be a blot on our beautiful village
e Stoke Prior is a village, not a convenient overspill area
e Out of character with the smart new houses on the Henbrook Gardens estate
e Unacceptably high density over-development of the site.

e The design of the units look like the standard type one could find anywhere in the
UK

ECOLOGY

e Welfare of local wildlife systems including but not limited to the canal system, Hen
Brook and Salwarp river feed. The development threatens a further reduction in
the habitat for the protected species that are present on the site including Great
Crested Newts grass snakes and slow worms. The Applicant’s ecological survey
also mentions that the dense scrub contributes to the foraging and commuting bats
and dunnocks.

e The land should be used as a nature reserve

NEED / ALTERNATIVE USES
e With the recent development at Henbrook Gardens, there is no need for further
residential development
e The site could be redeveloped as a solar farm

CLIMATE CHANGE
e High dependency on the private car and static homes which are likely to employ
propane and log burners as heading sources are not environmentally forward
thinking.

Comments in Support

NEED
e The area needs this type of Housing

Relevant Policies

BDP1 Sustainable Development Principles
BDP2 Settlement Hierarchy

BDP6 Infrastructure Contributions

BDP7 Housing Mix and Density

BDP8 Affordable Housing

BDP9 Rural Exception Sites

BDP10 Homes for the Elderly

BDP12 Sustainable Communities

BDP14 Designated Employment

BDP16 Sustainable Transport

BDP19 High Quality Design

BDP20 Managing the Historic Environment
BDP21 Natural Environment

BDP22 Climate Change

BDP23 Water Management

Page 34



Plan reference

BDP24 Green Infrastructure
BDP25 Health and Well Being

Others

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

Relevant Planning History

18/00041/FUL

14/0018

B/2005/0717

B/2005/0716

B/2005/0597

B/2003/1368

B/2003/0531

B/1998/0449

B/1995/0933

B/18398/1989

B/13182/1985

Erection of New Industrial Units for B2
(General Industrial) and B8 (Storage
and Distribution) uses

Extension to industrial unit

Erection of additional storage
accommodation.

Deletion of condition 04 attached to
B/2003/0531 to permit unrestricted
operational hours

Raise ground levels of part of existing
land to form a development platform
and form raised bund area for
landscaped tree planting.

Relocation of pump house and water
storage tank (sprinklers).

Change of Use to B1, B2 & B8 use.

Pumphouse and water storage tank
(sprinklers) at Bayer UK Ltd, Shaw
Lane, Stoke Works, (as augmented by
plans received 29.06.98).

Extension to gatehouse and proposed
pallet store

Temporary Office Accommodation and
hardstanding for car parking.

Construction of new emergency access.

Assessment of Proposal

Page 35

Agenda Iltem 5

08.08.2018

06.05.2014

09.02.2006

09.02.2006

23.12.2005

06.02.2004

16.06.2003

13.07.1998

02.01.1996

09.10.1989

09.09.1985



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Site Location and Description

The application relates to an area of land measuring 11.05 acres located on the north
eastern side of Shaw Lane. The land located to the rear of the site is currently vacant and
comprises of the last phase of Corbett Business Park. The eastern boundary of the site
abuts the Metal and Ores site accessed via Hanbury Road. The designated Worcester to
Birmingham Canal Conservation Area is adjacent to the Southern boundary and further
commercial and industrial premises are located on the Saxon and Harris Business Park
to the south of the canal. The northern boundary of the site runs parallel with the railway
line that links Worcester with Birmingham. The site itself is currently undeveloped, with a
screening belt of trees fronting the canal and a pond located on the southern side.

The site is designated as an employment zone within the adopted Bromsgrove District
Plan and constitutes ‘previously developed land.” Although contains no built development.

Proposal

Full Planning Permission is sought for a development of 90 residential park homes on the
site. The proposed development comprises 3 models of Willerby Bespoke Park Homes of
which the floor plans for each model has been submitted as part of the application. These
would have a mix of horizontal artificial timber style cladding/ rendered exteriors and
shallow pitched tiled roofs. These units would be serviced via the existing entrance to the
industrial units at Corbett Business Park but with capability to create a segregated area
for cyclists and pedestrians.

The development is specifically intended to cater for the over 55’s. Each units would have
2 parking spaces. An existing pond would be retained. The application also includes
proposals for acoustic fencing to the north, west and eastern boundaries.

The proposal was last amended in January 2022 to delete a proposed pathway through
an area of landscaping running parallel to the southern boundary alongside the
Worcester and Birmingham Canal, at the suggestion of the Local Planning Authority.

Main Issues
The main issues to consider in this case are

Principle of Development
Loss of Employment Land
Housing Supply

Housing Need

Highway Safety

Character, Setting and Design
Residential Amenity

Ecology

Floodrisk

Land contamination

Mitigating impact upon local infrastructure

Page 36



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

e Proposed Occupancy age limit
These issues are considered below and weighed in the Planning Balance
Principle of development

The site is designated as an employment zone within the adopted Bromsgrove District
Plan and constitutes ‘previously developed land.’

Criterion ‘a’ of Policy BDP2 of the adopted Bromsgrove District Plan identifies
“Development of previously developed land or buildings within existing settlement
boundaries which are not in the designated Green Belt;” as being a suitable location for
residential development.

Similarly, paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that

118. Planning policies and decisions should:

c) give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements
for homes and other identified needs, and support appropriate opportunities to remediate
despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or unstable land;

d) promote and support the development of under-utilised land and buildings, especially if
this would help to meet identified needs for housing where land supply is constrained and
available sites could be used more effectively.

The site lies with the settlement of Stoke Prior as defined by the residential and
employment areas identified on the proposals map.

There are two key considerations in considering the principle of development in this case.
Firstly, the designation of the site in the development plan for employment purposes, and
secondly the Council’s current position in respect of housing land supply.

The loss of employment land and Housing Land supply position are considered in the
subsequent sections of this report.

Loss of Employment Land

Corbett Business Park is an existing industrial park situated on land designated for
employment purposes and permissions have been granted for the use of the wider
business park for B1, B2 and B8 uses.

BDP Policy 14 states that

BDP14.3 Bromsgrove District Council will safeguard employment areas that:

a) Are well located and linked to the main road and public transport network; and
b) Provide, or are physically and viably capable of providing through development,
good quality modern accommodation attractive to the market; and

c) Are capable of meeting a range of employment uses to support the local
economy.

Page 37



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

BDP14.4 Proposals that result in the loss of employment land for non-employment
uses, such as housing, will not be considered favourably unless applicants can
adequately demonstrate that:

i) The proposal would not have an adverse impact upon the quality and quantity of
employment land within the local area; and

The loss of the site to employment use would compound the loss of employment land in
the area and District as a whole.

il) There would be a net improvement in amenity (e.g. ‘non conforming’ uses close
to residential areas); and

The site is not presently in active employment use and consequently there is no
assessment to be made about whether there would be an improvement to the amenities
of residents. Moreover, the nearest residential properties are situated on the opposite
side of the canal to the south east of the site.

iii) The site has been actively marketed for employment uses for a minimum period
of 12 months, providing full and detailed evidence or where an informed
assessment has been made as to the sustainability of the site and/or premises to
contribute to the employment land portfolio within the District (as part of this
assessment, consideration should be given to the appropriateness for subdivision
of premises); or

It is accepted that the site has been marketed in excess of the requisite period, but that
does not mean that further marketing would fail to generate interest.

iv) The new use would result in a significant improvement to the environment, to
access and highway arrangements, or sustainable travel patterns which outweighs
the loss of employment land; and

The site is undeveloped. It is visible from the canal towpath and development on the
opposite side of the canal. The site does not have a detrimental impact on the
environment in its present state. The south-eastern edge of the site / canal bank has
some existing trees and screening vegetation.

The proposal offers no significant changes to the junction arrangements, save creating a
safe route for pedestrians and cyclists from the development to the site access. As the
site is undeveloped realistic comparisons cannot be made between ‘existing’ and
‘proposed’ traffic without making assumptions, but the acceptability of the proposal in
highway terms does not rely solely upon demonstrating that the use might generate less
traffic, than an alternative.

V) The site/premises are not viable for an employment use or mixed use that
includes an appropriate level of employment. A development appraisal should
accompany proposals to clearly demonstrate why redevelopment for employment
purposes is not commercially viable.

BDP14.5 In line with the NPPF, planning policies should avoid the long-term
protection of sites allocated for employment use where there is no reasonable

Page 38



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

prospect of a site being used for that purpose. Where the above criteria is justified
and there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for the allocated
employment use, applications for alternative uses of land or buildings will be
treated on their merits having regard to market signals and the relative need for
different land uses to support sustainable local communities.

Notably, the applicant’'s marketing report does not explicitly claim that the site is not
viable for employment use. Part of the site has been recently developed in 2018 to
facilitate further employment use.

Fisher and German have been joint agents for the site and have carried out an extensive
marketing campaign in excess of 15 years. Their report forms part of the application. The
report states a number of reasons why it has been difficult to generate an occupier for the
site including:

» Poor access;

» Ground Conditions; and

* Better alternative sites within the area.

The marketing report concludes by stating:

“Phase Il Corbett Business Park has been openly marketed for many years without
success.

The land has outline consent for employment development and therefore new
buildings to suit specific occupier requirements have been offered to the local and
regional market, in all, over a period of almost 17 years.

Whilst discussions have taken place with potential tenants or buyers, this initial interest
has not resulted into any serious interest.

The site is in a semi-rural location. Not in itself a major issue, but access to the site is
poor. This has been the dominant reason for potential occupiers to discount the site.

There are a number of established business parks and estates in the intermediate area
which are more readily accessible from the main road and motorway network. In
addition, there are a number of employment sites with outline planning consent in the
area with superior access, which will be able to satisfy market demand in the coming
years.”

The fact that residential development, has been permitted under the terms of application
reference 17/00761/FUL within the allocated site for employment on the south side of the
canal, does not justify the further release of employment land on the north side.

In my opinion, the applicant has not demonstrated that there is no reasonable prospect of
the site being used for employment purposes. The fact that there may be better available
sites by comparison, does not make the site unsuitable for employment use, when seen
in the context of the development plan period, where site availability may vary over time.
North Worcestershire Economic Development and Regeneration (NWEDR) object to the
proposal and it is considered that the release of this land for purposes other than
employment use would be premature. In the event Members considered that the relevant
policy requirements under 14.4 had been met, it does not automatically follow that the

Page 39



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

site would be suitable for residential use, as BDP 14.4 should not be read independently
of other policies in the development plan which are material to consideration of this
application.

Housing Supply

Paragraph 59 of the NPPF states: “To support the Government’s objective of significantly
boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land
can come forward where, it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing
requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed without
unnecessary delay’.

The fact that Bromsgrove cannot presently demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing is not
disputed and the development could make a meaningful contribution to this identified
shortfall. This matter must, reasonably, therefore be given substantial weight in
determining the application. The relevant test is set out at Paragraph 11 of the NPPF
which sets out a presumption in favour of granting permission unless “any adverse
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole” The other impacts of
the development are considered in the subsequent sections of this report and in the
planning balance.

Housing Need

Policy BDP8 of the Bromsgrove District Plan requires that for brownfield sites
accommodating less than 200 dwellings, up to 30% affordable housing will be required.
paragraph 8.2 of Policy BDP8 states that in exceptional circumstances where the
applicant can fully demonstrate that the required target cannot be achieved, the Council
are able to negotiate a lower provision. However, the policy does not allow this to be
provided through the payment of commuted sums for off-site provision and as such, a
registered social housing provider would usually be required to adopt a certain number of
units as affordable homes. The reasoned justification for the policy states that there is a
significant unmet demand for affordable housing in the district. Accordingly, the provision
of affordable housing is a fundamental consideration for new residential development.

In this case, the Applicant has contacted a number of registered social landlords to
establish the premise of these established companies adopting the park home units, with
the necessary requirements of affordable units in mind. That exercise did not generate
any interest.

Furthermore, the land conditions are not suitable for conventional built development with
footings and foundations so the prospect of constructing conventional houses on site to
meet the requirements for affordable housing is not a viable option in this case.

The applicant has requested that the requirement for an offsite affordable housing

contribution, rather than the provision of on-site affordable housing is considered by the
Local Planning Authority.

Page 40



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

The principal drawback with conceding a commuted sum is that collection of a sum in lieu
of onsite provision does not actually secure the delivery of the affordable housing at the
same time as the development, nor does it identify an alternate site where such housing
might be provided and delivered in an equivalent form.

Paragraph 62 of the NPPF states that —

“‘Where a need for affordable housing is identified, planning policies should specify
the type of affordable housing required, and expect it to be met on-site unless:

a) off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly
justified; and

b) the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating mixed and
balanced communities.

In this case your officers consider the applicant has robustly justified why a financial
contribution towards off-site provision is justified in accordance with the NPPF.

The remaining issue to resolve then is the amount of contribution. The Council’s policy
requires the provision of 30% affordable housing on this brownfield site. The applicant’s
viability appraisal reviewed by the Council’s consultant could sustain a contribution
equivalent to 10%.

Whilst this is a level of contribution falling short of the level usually deemed acceptable it
would nonetheless help the district meet its specific affordable housing needs.
Accordingly, whilst the proposal would not accord with Policy BDP8 it would accord with
Paragraph 62 of the NPPF.

Highway Safety

Policy BDP16 states that “Development should comply with the Worcestershire County
Council’s Transport policies, design guide and car parking standards, incorporate safe
and convenient access and be well related to the wider transport network.”

The site is located off Shaw Lane which has vehicle height restrictions in the vicinity. The
road is subject to a 30mph speed limit. The proposed development would be accessed
via the existing vehicular access which serves Corbett Business Park. Within the site the
existing access road skirting the northern boundary between the existing units and
railway line would serve the proposed development with the potential for segregation of
pedestrians and cyclists from vehicular traffic.

In their consultee response WCC Highways make the observation that -

“A residential site sharing access with an existing industrial site is highly unorthodox,
however, this is an entirely private arrangement” - the inference being it does not have to
meet adoptable standards.

However, they note that “The arrangement does not provide a segregated pedestrian
point of access clear from vehicular movements including HGVs. The current footway
tapers where the existing gates are in situ, and based upon the current arrangement,
pedestrians leaving the site will have to enter the private roadway, sharing road space
with vehicles.”

Page 41



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Nonetheless, they have acknowledged that on the “supporting plan P026C26-11-REV A,
Location Plan, the indicated blue-line boundary shows control over the access
arrangement” This means that the applicant could deliver the requisite safe route for
pedestrians, and those details could be secured by a condition in the event that Members
were minded to approved the application. On that basis officers consider that highway
safety concerns in this regard could be adequately mitigated via the implementation of
improvements in accordance with further details which could be secured by planning
conditions if members were minded to support the application

WCC Highways advise that pedestrians should be segregated from car and HGV
movements, ensuring that safe and suitable access for all users at the point where they
join the public highway and recommend a planning condition that requires the existing
access arrangements to be altered and provide a continuation of a 3m footway into the
development for sufficient distance to ensure pedestrians and cyclists are segregated
from HGV movements. Officers are consequently satisfied that this matter could be
addressed by condition if members were minded to support the application.

The site is situated in a location, within close proximity to a number of essential services
and facilities. The distances to those facilities are:

. * Post Office (500m);
. * Morrisons / ALDI Supermarkets (2.3km);

. * Numerous Nature Reserves and Parks (within 2km);

. » Stoke Prior Village Hall (800m);

. * Restaurants, Pubs and Cafes (within 2km);

. * Places of Worship (1.9km);

. * Larger range of services and facilities in Bromsgrove (4km);
. * Doctors Surgery (500m); and

. * Dentist (Charsfield Dental Practice) — 5.8 miles

Subject to improving connectivity through land in the applicant’s ownership and control it
is possible the proposed site would be in reasonable walking distance of some local
shops and services.

Worcestershire County Council’s Highways have undertaken a robust assessment of the
proposal, and based on the analysis of the information submitted with the application and
the consultation responses received from third parties. According, having regard to that
advice, | concur with their conclusion that the proposal would not be an unacceptable
impact on highway safety in the area and safe and convenient access could be achieved
in accordance with Policy BDP16.

Worcestershire County Council Highways have recommended that several conditions
should be appended to any permission in the event Members decide to grant planning
permission. One of these conditions is for a travel plan to be submitted that promotes
sustainable forms of access to the development site, in order to reduce vehicle
movements and promote sustainable access in accordance with the requirements of
Policy BDP16.

Page 42



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Character, Setting, and Design

Policies in the Bromsgrove District Plan, notably BDP 20, which at 20.2 states that the
Local Authority will “support development proposals which sustain and enhance the
significance of Heritage Assets including their setting”. In addition BDP20.3 states
“Development affecting Heritage Assets, including alterations or additions as well as
development within the setting of Heritage Assets, should not have a detrimental impact
on the character, appearance or significance of the Heritage Asset or Heritage Assets”.

As regards conservation areas BDP 20.9 requires that “Development within or adjacent to
a Conservation Area should preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the
area”

These clauses are supported by the NPPF; and Paragraph 189 requires, applicants ‘to
describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made
by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and
no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their
significance.”

Paragraph 193 states “When considering the impact of a proposed development on the
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's
conservation. This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial
harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance”

Paragraph 194 states “Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage
asset should require clear and convincing justification”, and Paragraph 200 “Local
planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within
Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites and within the setting of heritage assets to
enhance or better reveal their significance.”

The applicant has produced a Heritage Statement, and this has informed the Council’s
Conservation Officer’'s comments reproduced in the consultees section of the report.

“A caravan park would be an alien addition to the setting of the predominantly rural
setting of the Canal, contrasting as well with the industrial pockets found along the Canal.
The proposal is therefore at odds with the historic environment policies in the Bromsgrove
District Plan”. but goes onto add that “A considered landscape plan may however mitigate
the harm by maintaining and reinforcing the current screening of vegetation and trees.”

Paragraph 4.3.2 of the BDC High Quality Design SPD (HQDSPD) states that
“‘Where new residential developments are proposed within the setting of a designated
heritage asset, great care will need to be had to ensure the setting of the heritage asset is

sustained and enhanced.”

BDP20.10 The .... removal of trees and other landscape features which make a positive
contribution to an area’s character or appearance will be resisted.

And Policy BDP19 sees to deliver good design by

Page 43



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

p. Ensuring all trees that are appropriate (e.g. in terms of size, species, conditions and
predicted climate) are retained and integrated within new development;

g. Ensuring development incorporates sufficient, appropriate soft landscaping and
measures to reduce the potential impact of pollution (air, noise, vibration, light, water) to
occupants, wildlife and the environment;

The trees within the development site running parallel to the canal do not benefit from
protection by the Conservation Area status of the canal because they lie beyond it. The
applicant has deleted the path which was previously proposed running through this area
thereby removing the potential threat to the green backdrop to the canal and the visual
integrity of this feature. In light of that amendment the proposal does not explicitly
threaten the established canal side vegetation or the character and setting of the
conservation area. The proposal would provide some opportunities for new landscaping
to bolster existing boundary vegetation. The proposal is therefore in accordance with
policies, BDP20 and BDP21 of the Bromsgrove District Local Plan

Policy BDP19 criterion ‘m’ seeks to encourage

residential developments to provide sufficient functional space for everyday activities,
meet people’s needs and expectations from their homes, and to enable flexibility and
adaptability.”

The proposal makes no provision for external storage to serve the needs of the future
occupiers the units. Whilst storage may not be required for gardening implements if areas
are managed as contiguous open space between the units, there would be a need for
secure storage for cycles adding further to the built form. A condition requiring such
structures could be imposed to ensure provision is made and implemented consistently,
mindful that the units would not enjoy permitted development rights as conventional
‘dwellinghouses’ would, and such that such features would require planning permission.

Residential Amenity

In their Planning Statement the applicant claims -
“The primary aim of the proposed design is to develop an over 55s residential park which
is both a peaceful and enjoyable place for residents to live.”

Air Quality

The NPPF does require the cumulative impacts on air quality from individual sites in local
areas to be considered. Therefore, although Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS)
have not raised any objection to the proposal in regards to air pollution, they have
suggested that their standard recommendations for a development of this size are put in
place to mitigate against the cumulative impact on local air quality from all development.

| am satisfied that the details of such matters could be secured by condition, however the
proposal makes no commitment to including measures such as electric vehicle charging
points for each unit, or solar panels, noting the opportunity to exploit a southern aspect
and generally shallow roof pitch. However electrical vehicle charging points and details of
other measures designed to meet the objectives of a low carbon future could be secured
via planning conditions.

Page 44



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Noise

Policy BDP19 criterion ‘t’ requires that

“Development proposals should maximise the distance between noise sources (for
example motorways) and noise sensitive uses (such as residential), whilst also taking into
account the implications of the existing night time use of the locality”,

A noise assessment was requested to be submitted with the application. Worcestershire
Regulatory Services (WRS) have assessed this and object to the proposal.

The proposed development consists of prefabricated park homes located on a parcel of
land bounded on three sides by an industrial estate. The fourth side to the east is
hemmed in by the Gloucester to Birmingham Railway line. Saxon Business Park to the
south of the site is allocated to B1, B2, B8 use. East of the proposed site, directly
adjacent is an operational scrap yard, vehicle dismantlers and waste management
company which are inherently noisy industrial activities. To the West of the site there are
several Industrial units allocated to B1, B2 and B8 use. Whilst the newer unit to the
immediate west of the site does have conditions controlling deliveries and dispatches to
and from the building, precluding industrial processes outside the building, it does not
preclude 24/7 working.

WRS have reviewed the associated acoustic report and whilst it concludes that noise
impacts during their assessments would be manageable, based on their findings WRS
maintains concerns as the assessment only captures a brief snapshot of the noise
climate and does not take into account the potential variability of noise from all of the
different sources surrounding the land.

In addition to this, due to the established planning status of the industrial estate/scrap
yard/railway line there will always be a possibility that a noise increase may occur through
intensification/ demand/ change of occupancy which would add further detriment to any
future residential occupants.

Indeed, Members should be aware that on 2" December 2020, WCC (in their role as
Local Planning Authority for Minerals and Waste matters) granted planning permission
under reference 20/000031/CM for -

“Demolition of part of existing industrial building; erection of extension to retained building
and connection to adjacent waste transfer station to provide additional storage space for
waste materials, office and staff facilities, and a new weighbridge on the metal and ores
site”

Therefore , notwithstanding the acoustic fencing proposed, the proximity of these
established industrial uses to the site would, in your officer’s opinion, inevitably give rise
to conflict between the future occupiers of the development and neighbouring uses.

WRS have noted the proposed acoustic fencing would provide some mitigation, the
application provides no indication of existing / proposed ground levels to ascertain the
effectiveness of such a fence relative to these noise sources. The cumulative height of
fences relative to their surroundings in visual terms, the impact upon the living
environment for the future occupiers of the park homes, and the fact that the construction
of the bunds would rely upon the an unquantified amount of imported material and
associated lorry movements are significant material considerations.

Page 45



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Paragraph 187. of the NPPF states that “Planning policies and decisions should ensure
that new development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and
community facilities (such as places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports clubs)
Existing businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on
them as a result of development permitted after they were established. Where the
operation of an existing business or community facility could have a significant adverse
effect on new development (including changes of use) in its vicinity, the applicant (or
‘agent of change’) should be required to provide suitable mitigation before the
development has been completed.”

Evidently, the NPPF requires that proposed uses should be compatible with existing uses
to ensure that existing businesses are not subjected to unreasonable restrictions. This is

a matter that is echoed in Policy BDP1 of Bromsgrove District Plan, which requires regard
to be given to the compatibility with adjoining uses and the impact on residential amenity.

In concluding on this matter, | do not consider that the amenity of future occupiers would
be adequately safeguarded. The sound attenuative properties of park homes are not the
same as conventional masonry dwellinghouses and the introduction of such a residential
use in this context would almost certainly overtime generate disputes and complaints due
to the incompatibility of residential park homes with adjacent uses. | am also mindful that
this incompatibility between adjacent uses is likely to be compounded if the units were
occupied by the retired or semi-retired who are likely to spend more time at home during
the day. Such occupiers would comprise the operators target market and would have
consciously chosen the location on the basis of particular lifestyle choices which are very
unlikely to be compatible with the reasonable and necessary operations of heavy industry
and storage and distribution uses. In this sense the proposal would also fail to meet the
applicant’s stated objective. Furthermore, post COVID employment arrangements are
resulting in many people being able to work from home, so disturbance from adjacent
employment uses during the day is likely to be more apparent than in a situation where
occupants are at work and consequently off site.

Ecology

Policy BDP21 sets out a presumption to maintain the favourable conservation status of
populations of protected species.

The site has a population of Great Crested Newts and accordingly requires some
mitigation. The Council’s ecologist has concerns about the level of information submitted
with the proposal, with regard to mitigation, however these matters could be addressed
via a pre-commencement condition. Accordingly your officers consider that potential harm
to protected species and their habitat could be satisfactorily mitigated.

Floodrisk

Policy BDP 23 seeks to ensure that new development is not placed at risk of flooding or
risks increasing flooding elsewhere.

Page 46



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

The site falls predominantly within flood zone 1 (low risk of fluvial flooding) although an
area of flood zone 2&3 passes through the site along the route of the culverted Hen
Brook. The modelling covering this area is coarse and therefore may not be accurate,
however in the absence of a site specific model and to protect the culvert (including
access to it for maintenance purposes) no units should be placed over the culvert'
instead | would expect to see access roads or shared open space over this area; this
appears to be the case in the drainage strategy (ref 19-004/FWO01A) but not in the
landscaping plans. A detailed culvert survey is required prior to any work commencing on
site and again upon completion to ensure no defects are present which would lead to or
exacerbate floodrisk.

In light of these considerations, it is considered that the impact of the development upon
floodrisk could be mitigated through conditions and the development would accord with
Policy BDP23.

Land Contamination

Policy BDP19 states that :

r. Ensuring development is made suitable for the proposed final use, for instance, in
terms of land contamination and, where relevant, does not create an unacceptable risk to
controlled waters (where relevant). The Council will determine whether reports detailing
for example, site history; a preliminary risk assessment and where appropriate; a site
investigation and remediation scheme along with long term monitoring and maintenance
proposals, will need to be submitted in support of any planning application. Such reports
will be prepared in accordance with best practice guidance;

WRS have recommended conditions to address this issue, so raise no objection in
principle subject to the requisite reports and mitigation being submitted, approved and
implemented.

Mitigating Impact on Local Infrastructure

Policy BDP12 states that -

“The Council will ensure provision is made for services and facilities to meet the needs of
the community....... New developments that individually or cumulatively add to
requirements for infrastructure and services will be expected to contribute to the provision
of necessary improvements in accordance with BDP6.”

Policy BDP6 states that -

“Irrespective of size, development will provide, or contribute towards the provision of:
Measures to directly mitigate its impact, either geographically or functionally, which will be
secured through the use of planning obligations;”

In this case, the development would also be required to make contributions towards
public open space, refuse and recycling bins, GP practice, as well as necessary
monitoring fees.

GP Practice

The NHS CCG has requested a contribution of £24,127 towards a local GP practice to
increase capacity, which the development would have an impact upon.

Page 47



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Public Open Space

An off-site contribution for improvement of play facilities on the public open space
adjacent to the site would not be reasonably required if the resultant units could not be
occupied by the under 18s.

Refuse and Recycling Bins
A payment would be required for domestic waste and recycling bins which is likely to be
in the order of £30 per bin

Education

A contribution would not be required towards local education provision, provided that
there is a legal mechanism to prohibit occupancy of the resultant units by under 18s. The
applicant has confirmed their agreement in principle to such a restriction.

Highways
BDP16 sets out a requirement that “Financial contributions from developers will be

sought for new development in respect of investment in public transport, pedestrian, cycle
and highways infrastructure as detailed by the draft Bromsgrove Infrastructure Delivery
Plan in conjunction with policy BDP6 Infrastructure Contributions.”

These are summarised in the response from the Highway Authority

Monitoring Fees

On 1 September 2019, the Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England)
(No.2) Regulations 2019 were introduced. These Regulations introduce new
requirements to report and monitor on the collection of planning obligations.

The Regulations permit the District Council to apply a fee to planning obligations so long
as it:

*Fairly and reasonably relates in scale and kind to the development

*Does not exceed the authority’s estimate of its cost of monitoring the development over
the lifetime of the planning obligations

Officers are satisfied that the request meets the relevant requirements for contributions.
In that they are necessary, directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably
related in scale and kind to the development.

Proposed Occupancy / Age Limit

The applicant has asserted that they would be prepared to accept the following condition
to control occupancy of the site, but have not explained why these consider such a
condition to be necessary.

“Each unit of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied only by: persons
aged over 55 years; persons living as part of a single household with such a
person or persons; persons who were living as part of a single household with
such a person or persons who have since died.”

And further notes

Page 48



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

» The over 55’s age restriction should be implemented by way of a Planning
Condition, as is the case with the majority of age restricted park home
developments; and

 The age restricted element of the proposal can be further implemented via the
Park Rules / Licence which directly reference that no person under a certain age
may reside in a park home.

It is notable that the condition proposed by the applicant would not prohibit occupancy by
the under 55s. Only one of the occupiers of each unit would need to be over 55 and their
partner and their dependents could be under 55 and continue to reside there in the event
of the death of the occupant, who was over 55. The description of development suggests
a level of control which might not unreasonably lead to a perception by interested parties
that the development would have materially lesser impacts than that which might be
expected from that of a conventional residential development, but in reality, would not
deliver that outcome.

Whilst it is reasonable to assert that the data regarding household changes demonstrates
that there will be a higher demand for properties for ‘older person households’ as a result
of the aging population, it does not follow that in providing homes for the older generation
to downsize, that this would actually free up housing for young families in the area. But
even if this were the result, it is not necessary for the Local Planning Authority to impose
an age limit of over 55’s upon the occupancy of the park homes in an attempt to engineer
that outcome. It would be sufficient to just provide that typology of accommodation.

Officers are not satisfied that a condition limiting occupant’s over 55 as proposed could
be practically monitored for compliance but moreover, is essentially unnecessary for
planning purposes. A similar age restrictive limitation in the form of a clause in a legal
agreement might reasonably relate to the County Council Education contribution to
ensure that a contribution which would otherwise be required, were not evaded without a
safeguard to ensure that the development did not generate a demand on that function in
the absence of such a control. As no education contribution is proposed, the legal
agreement could preclude occupancy by the under 18’s. Such a restriction would serve a
planning purpose.

Viability

The Revised NPPF (2021) appear to have dispensed with a formal definition of viability;
i.e. the previous paras (173 and 174) which dealt with the willing developer and land
owner and competitive returns have been removed. The most relevant paragraphs of the
Framework now appears to be Numbers 47, 48 and 58 which deal with the relationship
between Local Plans and planning applications

‘Determining applications 47. Planning law requires that applications for planning
permission be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. Decisions on applications should be made as quickly
as possible, and within statutory timescales unless a longer period has been agreed by
the applicant in writing.

Page 49



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

48. Local planning authorities may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to: a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given); b) the extent to which there
are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant the unresolved
objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and c) the degree of
consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this Framework (the
closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater
the weight that may be given).’

And:

‘58. Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from
development, planning applications that comply with them should be assumed to be
viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify
the need for a viability assessment at the application stage. The weight to be given to
a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having regard to all the
circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and the viability evidence
underpinning it is up to date, and any change in site circumstances since the plan
was brought into force. All viability assessments, including any undertaken at the
plan-making stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national planning
guidance, including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly available.’

In October 2021 the applicant commissioned Avison Young to provide a viability report
which concluded: ‘In summary, having regard to the criteria set out in this report, the
proposed development results in a residual land value of £1,661,518 which exceeds our
assessment of the benchmark land value. At the above-stated level of planning obligation
contributions, the scheme is, therefore, viable while providing an appropriate profit to the
developer. Given a benchmark land value of £1,532,800 based on the value of the site in
the most likely alternative use (open storage), this leaves a surplus for affordable housing
(and/or any other planning obligations in addition to the four stated above) of £128,718.

Accordingly, it is proposed to make an affordable housing contribution of £128,718
towards the off-site provision of affordable housing. For the scheme to remain financially
viable in the event that additional planning obligations are levied, such as an off-site open
space contribution and/or annual monitoring fee, these payments would need to be drawn
from the identified surplus ‘pot’ totalling £128,718 and necessatrily the affordable housing
contribution would need to be reduced by a commensurate amount.’

In response, the Council engaged its own viability consultant to review the applicant’s
figures and challenged that position. Following further negotiation both the applicant’s
and Council’s respective consultants have reached a consensus with regard to the level
of contribution which the scheme can sustain to attribute to affordable housing provision
off-site, in lieu of on-site provision.

In further reviewing the applicant’s viability submissions, the Council’s Viability Consultant
has concluded that the proposal shows a residual value of £5,125,000 and this means
that the revenue is greater than the costs. This means that the scheme is viable to deliver
an affordable housing contribution at 10%.

Notwithstanding the fact the Local Plan Policy does not make provision for a financial
contribution in lieu of on site provision, the Council’'s Consultant has calculated that -

Page 50



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

The viable position, on the strength of the scheme before us is 9 Affordable units and the
payment as a commuted sum is £667,000. This is calculated as the difference:

Residual Value at 10% Affordable Housing = £1,417,000 and

Residual Value at 0% Affordable Housing = £2,084,000.

This is an equivalent approach which should allow for Affordable units to be provided
elsewhere either by a RP or by the Council itself.

Planning Balance

The Council do not have a 5-year supply of deliverable housing sites. Consequently, the
requirements of Paragraph 11 of the Framework are engaged. This states that where the
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a
whole.

In terms of benefits, it is accepted that —

e The development would utilise a brownfield site for a beneficial use; This is a
matter to which | attribute some weight.

e The application site represents a deliverable scheme which would make a
contribution to meeting the Authority’s housing requirements, provide a
contribution towards affordable housing (albeit off-site) and would assist in helping
reduce the amount of Green Belt that would possibly have to be released for
further residential development. This is a further matter to which | attribute
substantial weight.

e The application has the potential to release some family homes by encouraging
downsizing. This is a matter to which | attribute some limited weight.

| consider that issues arising in respect of safe pedestrian access, flood risk, land
contamination, highway safety, setting of conservation area and ecology could be dealt
with or satisfactorily mitigated by condition, and that financial contributions to mitigate the
impact of the development in respect of local health care, education, public transport and
affordable housing could be secured; so, would not constitute matters weighing against
the grant of permission. However, weighing against the benefits of the proposal, it is
necessary to balance the fact that —

e The development would result in the further loss of designated employment land.
This is a further matter to which | attribute considerable weight.

e The development would not be compatible with the established industrial land
uses to the south-west and north-east and consequently fails to create a
satisfactory living environment for future occupiers. This is a matter to which |
attribute substantial weight.

e The proposal would concentrate accommodation for the retired in one location

Cumulatively, therefore, in your officer’s opinion, the harm associated with the adverse
effects of the proposal weigh substantially against the development. Consequently, for
the reasons identified above, cumulatively, | consider that the adverse impacts of granting

Page 51



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

planning permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.
Accordingly, the proposal does not benefit from the presumption in favour of sustainable
development and the application should be refused.

Conclusion

Having carefully considered the proposal, it is considered that the adverse impacts of
granting planning permission in this case would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits, when assessed against the polices in the NPPF and adopted Development
Plan taken as a whole, and that those matters could not be satisfactorily mitigated by the
imposition of planning conditions. Further, the proposal fails to meet the key components
of sustainable development, the economic objective, social objective, and environmental
objective Irrespective of whether the site should be released from employment use,
officers consider this is not a suitable site for residential use given its physical context and
position relative to neighbouring land uses. Accordingly, officers recommend that the
application be refused.

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be Refused

Reasons for Refusal

1. The proposal would result in the loss of a designated employment site on previously
developed land which is capable of being developed for employment purposes and
flanked on two sides by established employment development. Accordingly, the
development would be contrary to Policies BDP1 and BDP14 of the Bromsgrove
District Local Plan and would lead to an unsustainable form of development by failing
to meet the economic objective to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity,
contrary to paragraph 8a) of the NPPF

2. Adjacent to the proposed development site is an operational scrap yard, vehicle
dismantlers and waste management company which are inherently noisy industrial
activities. To the south-west of the site there are several Industrial units used for
general industrial and storage and distribution purposes. Consequently, the relative
position of the proposed residential park homes between these established
employment uses, compounded by the Gloucester to Birmingham Railway line to the
north and Saxon Business Park to the south would result in an unsatisfactory living
environment for future occupants, a significant proportion of which are likely to be
retired. The proposal places significant reliance upon an acoustic fence to mitigate
noise nuisance and without existing or proposed levels data to show the relative
height of this feature to noise sources. The juxtaposition of the proposed use and
existing employment uses is likely to generate complaints from future residents which
would serve to impede the legitimate pre-existing, established employment activities.
Furthermore, the resultant insular development would be almost wholly enclosed and
physically isolated from its surroundings. Accordingly, the development would be
contrary to Policies BDP1 and BDP14 of the Bromsgrove District Local Plan,
Paragraph 4.2.53 of the BDC High Quality Design SPD and paragraphs 8b),185 and
187 of the NPPF.

Page 52



Agenda Iltem 5

Plan reference

Case Officer: Simon Jones Tel: 01527 548211
Email: simon.jones@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



GG abed

20/00643/FUL

Corbett Business Park
Shaw Lane, Stoke Prior
B60 4EA

Full Planning Permission for the use of land for the
stationing of 90 static residential park homes for the
over 55s, with associated parking, internal service
roads, and landscaping and acoustic fence to the
north, east and west boundaries

Recommendation: Refusal

G wal| epuaby



ion Pl an

cat

Lo

Page 56

Agenda Iltem 5

A\_\

1:2500@A3

Plam No:  PO26C26-11-REV C

Titke:  Location plan
Date: Z1.04 2022

Checked by: JH

Scale

| Bromsgrove BE0 4EA. United Kingdom

¥
o2
| &
| &
E

1



Aerial Potora oh

St
ke poyngin

Foley Gardeny,

cpnaw o

X pyrlinquer

T . - Ryefields PD,PMK
* Stoke Prior Surgery, %
e,\\ﬂ:“dsgd -
i Sh
sha & ’ \
Harriet's Hotel Cattery

Navigation“;@
Innjstoke prior &Y.

3 Black‘Prince-Holidays, >
¥~ Posh pdws by/emma ' é“ . o

e

Flowers By Tamsin ﬁ

Brorﬁsg‘rove .
i g 6 Y : Meadow Park
Chauffeur Services V¢ - , K N
R R, s ‘ Football Club,

(12}
3 Agnlme Produt,ls
: e Lo
(= Benniman

o 3 p : " q Hdms & Co &
A 12k Ve ' :“’“&Ekp&% i"ﬁnpdu

£
- 9
" cyvaw LN ‘ \‘Q g anre Bromsg ove

%'"' Watertight Management & u‘ ¢ 1 B - ‘i
, 9‘ vE
Midland Paper Producls Ly ; P ‘&_1 ‘ ‘ “l"_

ugoﬂ'echnology ¥
»* £

o
S
2

&z
x Lty
* 9.
/ §. %
% ; 7

Curo | Chartered g
- Acc'oumams h 4
Boat & Railway, % ¢
Stoke Prior;Sports @ sancait ez
2 & Country Club ﬁ
.., Beermdgeddon Festival

G wal| epuaby




Extract from Bromsgrove District Plan with

site edged red

- P T = !
w AR B\ =

s W
PSR sl /‘
‘\ "“‘."“ ""I
sk :«a’%
“ >>'

=T ‘.,!""“";' -

gG abed

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT PLAN MAP KEY
| | District Boundary Green Belt

- Employment [——— | Conservation Area

Residential Area

il

G wa)| epuaby



6G abed

Layout Plan Revision C

Bromsgrave 880 4EA, United Kingtom

OOOOOOOOOOOOO
..............

G wal| epuaby



Acoustic Fencing Plan

Corbett Residential Park - Acoustic Fencing

Scale: 1:1000@A2

Date 26.01.2022

o 2.5m high Jokoustic® Reflective | Acoustic
Fencing with 2. 41m between Post Cenlres

— 2m high Jakoustic® Reflective | Acoustic

M
U

Fencing with 2. 41m between Post

09 abed

AN

PARK EVOLUTION

G wa)| epuaby



1:1000@A2

Corbett Residential Park I_a ndsca pl ﬂg SCheme

Date 26.01.2022

Proposed native species tree and shrub planting

Proposed native species hedges

Exisitng scrub and trees

Existing hedges

T9 abed

AN

PARK EVOLUTION

P S — A B A B PR

G wal| epuaby



lllustrative CGl of how proposed development would appear.
view looking north west

»- . L B L
By - & e
’;a’, - ’—‘

"-"}fﬂ,?‘;,"' .
o L

- _—

29 abed

G wa)| epuaby



lllustrative CGl of how proposed development would appear.
view looking north west

€9 abed

G wa)| epuaby



Charnwood Park Home illustration

Charnwood

9 abed

R e o o4 B
<

N

Charnwood park home exterior

G wal| epuaby



G9 abed

t
- e s il
ELEVATION A ELEWVATION C ELEVATION B ELEVATION D
1S
VAULTED I FLAT CEILING
12804 [427
2442 2] 2500 [2-27] 1570 [5-27] 3454 [10-47] E54 [2-107] 1600 [5-3]
400mm ~ A8=0 & 1300
Dverhang E50 x 2050 i
e I i - T T Trmmimg, [
| o |
" L |
| G | o & |
L == o |
z e
— Bedroom 1 -k ‘L
- 2| 5 ~En-Suite |
5| E 8.9TM -
CEl [[ N 4.55M2 | 3
7| | - | #
ﬂ Dining —
| N 6.2M2 |
f | === c
§ / ] N
i [ ik Al |
| i —_ vamc EE
HE I R = @ — I :
é athro-oz 5 L Bedroom2 || §® g i
g 3.19M2 g - o H=— 7lsem: M |g
alkc In e ] =
! 5 = Robe 'Z I:ﬁ |
I 1.88M2 M |
|' ' | i
| === R | o | I | == === ]}
_Iﬂ 1880 £ 1700 JoBE4E20ED |40 x 140 __Iﬂ 1520 % 1700 E: —“
| - 5036 [15'-67] 1248 17 475 70 577 1000 [3-37 2624 [T |§ g
PLEASE MOTE - THE MODEL SIZE DOES NOT INCLUDE THE EXTERNAL FINISHING.
ALLCW 56mm PER ELEVATION FOR STUCCO & 40/mm PER ELEVATION FOR CANEXEL CLADDING.
LEGEND REV DESCRIPTION AUTH [DATE  [PAe= [pATE TITLE
—T 5 E WILLERBY
] = Saiich y
Purk Homes i % - —F e " WILLERBY PARK HOMES
I T —F F F TECHNCAL: e CHARNWOOD
i T T — —t — s — 12,804m x 6,094m (421t x 20ft)
e e e Exturred Secticn! 5 5 N 5 & s s e s o g s it s F ECALE |
T — Evterred el FF F F CHA-01-0001-000 | MTS
T

A Cimenora e i T, S sk, i &kt A

G wal| epuaby



Hazlewood Park Home illustration

Hazlewood Park Home

99 abed

Hazelwood park home exterior

G wa)| epuaby



/9 abed

MR

ELEVATION C

ELEVATION B

6034 (20)

ELEVATION D

2808 (937

VAULTED CEILING I FLAT CEILING
P 2432 (8] 4350 [14'47] 3501 [11-67]
ﬂmjr _________ S S e | E——
]
1
| i ™ -t
dl
200L
.
g | Bedroom-1
s N
o E 2
sl A
2 ,
] -+
1 | Lounge/Dining
| 22.58 M2
Nl -
|
ifig
!
o H
2 3 |
g
I -4
; 'y
400mm |
owemang| | B
E ? 200w x 11004

2495 [14-97

28% (967

o
PLEASE NOTE - THE MODEL SIZE DOES NOT INCLUDE THE EXTERNAL FINISHING.
ALLOW 56mm PER ELEVATION FOR STUCCO & 40mm PER ELEVATION FOR CANEXEL CLADDING.

7N
O/

WILLERBY PARK HOMES
HAZLEWOOQOD 2 BED
12,192m x 6,094m (401t x 20ft)

| RPH-?O-SWZ-OOO

G wa)| epuaby



Delamere Park Home illustration

Delamere Park Home

89 abed

Delamere park home exterior

G wa)| epuaby



69 abed

ELEVATION A ELEVATION C ELEVATION B ELEVATION D
YN

E 15247 [507
E 3813 1267 3345 [11] 7E6 [F-107 3528 [11~77]

G wal| epuaby

1200 x BBS |
p—i
i :
| " H[IE 5= |
1§ == W
= T %l #
5| 4
=] = o T
ol
T |
K . | s
i P i
=] AN ]
| £ | =
g | Kitchen/Diner |
@ 5 | 2341 M2 : 7
- T
| 4 .,........?.. ] | N
| - Faliway |
T : &J(’ I
i w
B | - | %
| | — |
8 | > = | -
[ é ,r:u-un-: i |
- :
| £ ], |
——
e
| : |
l | 1 L — e — 1
I // I T £l |
a00mm | - ! Treto
overnang ;7{"? - _i‘:— ]
p—_ - f g
'---.._E__ I~ 1557 [5-17 g
706 [12-27] 2845 [3-47] BEO (237 1332 (447 1500 [£-117 2725 [B-117
£E50 (22671 2331 [T 53585 15777
PLEASE NOTE - THE MCDEL 3I1ZE DOES NOT INCLUDE THE EXTERNAL FINISHING. @
ALLCW S6mm PER ELEVATION FOR STUCCO & 40mm PER ELEVATION FOR CANEXEL CLADDING.
LEGEND [REV DESCRIPTION [auTH [DaTE == AT TITLE
j'_‘- J Ercha Sozent T vy Ligtt Surtch = [ Lozmar Lt Terarra: Smzeat [E_[Femoval otvor-Sincard kems. (=3 AR ey, e Willerby
Park Homes _H Poutts Sochet By o-Gang Lighl Swatcs 3 iz gt Eockal (I RATED) [T Updated o spec EF 01AW2013)| ° W”lerby Park Homes
= = [ F-Giarg Ligtt St Flh ey It Sackal (I RATED)| - = - -
[p— ma e | BTV L] -—c‘-::L:Hm o L £ Svic Lt R |Ertarmal Top - - FECHRICAL PATE DELAMERE
[T —— ) T 5 Sl AR 5 I
e e i b e P T — P s e i = — 15,247m x 6,704m (501t X 227)
e e o8 5 [Earoon Worws Dt Estarrul Spotgin Wit B EEN-«“ I - L :‘-:_—_H-;:-:-:Wﬁﬂﬂ":'——mmﬂﬂ- SCALE
COFTEIGHT BESERRED Evmtnla_n Fun [Extarruai vl bt | Tharmcatsl [ [ s e, hm:-lhmn‘.q-: DEL-D|1 'DD1 'Dﬂﬂ' NTS

T : 45 : I




0/ abed

View from Birmingham and Worcester Canal tow path

G wal| epuaby



View of existing/proposed entrance from
Shaw Lane —looking east

G wa)| epuaby



View of existing/proposed entrance from

—|looking south

Shaw Lane

Agenda Iltem 5



Agenda Iltem 6

Name of Applicant Proposal Expiry Date  Plan Ref.
William & Jane Demolition of no's. 163 & 165 Birmingham 22/00116/FUL
and S Thorn Road and construction of eight detached

and Campbell  dwellings.

163 - 165 Birmingham Road, land to the

rear of 151 and 157 Birmingham Road and

73 All Saints Road, Bromsgrove
RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be APPROVED

The floor area of the development exceeds 1000 square metres, and therefore,
under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation it is referred to the Planning Committee
for determination.

Consultations

Community Safety
No objection

Worcestershire Archive and Archaeological Service

The application site is judged to potentially impact heritage assets of archaeological

interest that would be lost or damaged by the development. No objection subject to

conditions:

1. Programme of archaeological work

2. The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post
investigation assessment has been completed

Crime Risk Manager
No objection or comments regarding the above application.

North Worcestershire Water Management
No objection subject to conditions relating to:
1. Surface water strategy condition

2. Permeable paving shall be maintained

3. Finished floor levels

Further drainage information has been submitted an update will be provided to reflect any
further comments received.

WRS - Contaminated Land
No objection, subject to unexpected contamination condition.

WRS - Noise
No objection

Page 73



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

Highways - Bromsgrove
The Highways Authority has no objection subject to the conditions relating to;

Conformity with submitted details
Bound Material

Electric vehicle charging points
Existing access closure / reinstatement

N

Waste Management
No objection

Arboricultural Officer
| have no objection to the proposed development as shown on drawing 10G regard to any
tree issues.

Conservation Officer

Thank you for consulting conservation on the above application. As the scheme under
22/0116/FUL shows only minor amendments to the previously approved scheme, no
objection.

Relevant Policies

Bromsgrove District Plan

BDP1 Sustainable Development Principles
BDP2 Settlement Hierarchy

BDP7 Housing Mix and Density

BDP16 Sustainable Transport

BDP19 High Quality Design

BDP20 Managing the Historic Environment
BDP21 Natural Environment

BDP23 Water Management

Others

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
Bromsgrove High Quality Design SPD

Publicity

63 letters sent to surrounding properties on 17" February 2022 and expired 13" March
2022.

1 site notice was displayed on 17 February 2022 and expired 13" March 2021.

An advert was placed in the Bromsgrove Standard on 25" February 2022 and expired on
14t March 2021.

2 objections have been received, which raise the following issues:

e Residential amenity

e Impact on listed wall through building works
e Impact of double garage on rear garden of 11a

Page 74



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

Relevant Planning History

20/01565/FUL  Demolition of no's. 163 & 165 Approved 29.04.2021
Birmingham Road and construction of
eight detached dwellings.

20/00483/FUL  Demolition of nos. 163 and 165 Approved 08.09.2020
Birmingham Road and construction of
five detached dwellings.

Assessment of Proposal

Proposal

There is an extant planning permission on this site for eight detached dwellings, which
included 3x 3bed, 2x 4bed, 3x 5bed properties (20/01565/FUL). This was approved by
members of the Planning committee on 26™ April 2021.

This followed an early scheme on a smaller site that comprised two residential dwellings
fronting Birmingham Road (No. 163 and 165) and their rear garden curtilages for 5
dwellings on part of the application site (20/00483/FUL). This was approved by members
of the Planning Committee on 7™ September 2020.

This application seeks planning permission to demolish the two existing dwellings and
erect 8 detached dwellings. This would result in a net increase of 6 dwellings. It seeks to
substitute house types for previously approved plots 3, 4 and 7 and a revised garage for
plot 8.

Plots 1,2,3,7 and 8 would have five bedrooms, Plots 4-6 would each have three
bedrooms. The application site has includes part of the rear curtilages of 151 and 157
Birmingham Road and 73 All Saints Road.

The development would be served by a two access points onto Birmingham Road. Off
street parking would be provided for each of the dwellings.

The Site and its Surroundings

The site (0.34ha) is located between several residential dwellings fronting Birmingham
Road, with dwellings within Oakland Grove and All Saints Road backing onto the site.
Surrounding properties vary in scale, design, and age. To the north of the site set back
from the road with parking in front is a large 3 storey office building. This is built in the
Georgian style with brick and render. To the south are detached properties set back from
the road that vary in age and style. The properties on Oakland Grove are semi-detached
and are on smaller plots. The properties on All Saints Road are on larger plots with long
narrow back gardens. On the opposite side of Birmingham Road are semidetached
properties that are set back from Birmingham Road behind Spadesbourne Brook, a
hedge and an access road, Burcot Avenue.

Page 75



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

Housing Land Supply

Paragraph 74 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local planning
authorities to identify and update a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide
a minimum of five years' worth of housing against their housing requirement set out in
adopted strategic policies, or against their local housing need where the strategic policies
are more than five years old. In addition, there must be a buffer of between 5% and 20%,
depending on the circumstances of the LPA.

The Council has identified that (inclusive of the 5% buffer required by the Framework) it
can currently demonstrate a housing land supply of 4.6 years. Therefore, despite
progress which has been made in identifying sites and granting planning permissions the
Council still considers that it cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply.

Where a Local Planning Authority cannot demonstrate a five year housing supply,
Paragraph 11 (d) of the Framework is engaged. Paragraph 11 requires that decisions on
planning applications apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 11 (d)
goes on to state that where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date,
permission should be granted unless:

"I. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for restricting the development proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole."

Footnote 8 to the NPPF states that this includes (for applications involving the provision
of housing) situations where the LPA cannot demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites with the appropriate buffer, as set out in paragraph 74. Footnote
7 states these policies include land designated as Green Belts.

Housing Mix

Policy BDP7 states that to ensure mixed and varied communities are created
development proposals need to focus on delivering 2 and 3 bedroom properties.

As outlined in the proposal section, there is an extant planning permission on this site for
eight detached dwellings, which includes 3x 3bed, 2x 4bed, 3x 5bed properties
(20/01565/FUL). Therefore, it is considered in this case the applicant has a strong
fallback position in which to seek changes to the housing mix.

This proposal seeks to provide 3x 3bed and 5x 5bed properties. Whilst in policy terms
this would be a negative factor and one that does not comply with Policy BDP7. However,
the proposal essentially replaces 2x 4bed units with 2 further 5 beds, but this is only an
increase of 2 bedrooms overall in dwellings that largely resemble the approved scheme.

In the overall planning balance, given the extant permission, the small increase in
bedrooms, the small number of dwellings proposed and the continued demand for family
homes, | consider that it would be unreasonable to refuse the application for this reason
alone.

Page 76



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

The effect of the proposal on nearby desighated and loss non-designated heritage
assets

The application site comprises 163 (Albert Cottage) & 165 (Brook Cottage) Birmingham
Road. These are two brick built detached dwellings which date from the mid-19th century
and are located adjacent, thus in the setting of, the Grade Il listed Bartleet House (List
Entry Number: 1099538). 163 and 165 Birmingham Road, together with the former
boundary wall to Bartleet House are non-designated heritage assets in their own right.
Bromsgrove District Council does not currently have a definitive list of non-designated
heritage assets, and non-designated heritage assets are not limited to those on an
identified local list.

Following the approval of the two previous schemes, the impact on the setting of the
Grade Il listed Bartleet House and the loss of the designated heritage assets is
considered acceptable. It is noted that the Conservation officer has not sought to provide
comments on the proposal.

The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area

BDP19 (n) seeks to resist the development of garden land unless it fully integrates into
the residential area and is in keeping with the character and quality of the local
environment. The Council's High Quality Design SPD provides design guidance to assist
with interpreting these policies.

The site will be accessed off Birmingham Road via 2no. new vehicular access points. The
site fronts onto Birmingham Road with a run of dwellings running to the south and several
commercial buildings to the north. To the opposite side of Birmingham Road is
Spadesbourne Brooke. There is a cul-de-sac development accessed to the north of the
site, Oakland Grove that sits between 165 Birmingham Road & Bartleet House. The
proposal would be adjacent to Oakland Grove and near to further back land development
in the form of the garage redevelopments at Somerville and Hollyfields located off All
Saints Road. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development of this back land
site would not appear out-of-character with the area.

The development of the site would result in the loss of planting and trees. However, this
character is localised and is only really appreciated from within the application site and
neighbouring gardens. A detailed tree survey by Indigo Surveys indicates the trees to be
retained as part of this development. While some trees and landscaping will be lost, it is
considered that that any harm as a result of the loss of the existing planting and trees
would not be so severe that it would significantly harm the character and appearance of
the area. The Tree Officer has raised no objection to the scheme subject to conditions.
Tree matters are also considered in more detail later in this report.

The properties take design ques from the wider locality. Facing materials will reflect areas
of the local character comprising of red brickwork facades, twinned with feature bay
windows with tile hanging and chimneys. The properties fronting Birmingham Road will
be taller to reflect the character of the existing dwellings, continuing the stepped building
heights from Bartleet House to 157 Birmingham Road. The properties will also
incorporate feature stone cills to windows and feature brick headers to the windows. The
roofs will comprise of brown clay roof tiles with black PVCU fascias and soffits to the

Page 77



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

eaves and verges. The proposed dwellings fronting Birmingham Road will have oversized
taller windows to reflect the sash windows to Bartleet House and the existing dwellings
163 and 165 Birmingham Road, that the scheme looks to replace. The external design
respects the local character and would contribute to the varied dwelling types already
found in the area.

The Design SPD recommends a minimum garden depth of 10.5m for a two-storey
dwelling with an absolute minimum area of 70 sq m. The rear gardens of each property
would comfortably exceed the Council’s minimum requirements, allowing for satisfactory
living conditions. The plots would maintain a more than adequate degree of spaciousness
to allow a satisfactory degree of amenity and privacy levels for occupiers and neighbours
from both within and outside of the site.

The density of the proposal, at 23.5 dwellings per hectare (dph), is entirely lower than the
adjacent Oaklands Grove development which has a higher density of 44.3 dph. The site
would involve the development of garden land. However, Policy BDP19 (n) allows such
development providing it fully integrates into the residential area and is in keeping with
the character and appearance of the local environment. Therefore the proposed
development would not significantly harm the character and appearance of the area. As
such, it would accord with Policies BDP1, BDP7 and BDP19 of the BDP, which, amongst
other things, seek to ensure that development respects visual amenity and maintains
character and local distinctiveness and is of a high quality design in line with the High
Quality Design SPD.

The effect of the proposal on the living conditions of the occupiers of neighbouring
properties and future occupiers

Policy BDP 1.4 (e) requires developments to be compatible with adjoining uses and the
impact on residential amenity. The High Quality Design SPD assists with interpreting this
policy. Concerns have been expressed relating to additional noise disturbances close to
neighbouring garden boundaries.

The proposed dwellings would be surrounded by existing dwellings. Gardens and the
access road would run along an existing garden. Vehicular movements within the site
would be closest to the side of number 157 Birmingham Road, but it is noted that this
property will lose part of its rear garden to facilitate the site proposal compared to the
previous approval. Allocated parking and turning areas within the site would be
surrounded by boundary fences, trees and planting, which would minimise noise
disturbance. In addition, whilst the properties would be within proximity of each other,
there would be sufficient distance between them to ensure that any activities taking place
within them would have no increased harmful effect than one would normally expect
when living in a built-up residential area. Moreover, the existing site is comprised of
domestic gardens. Therefore, they could be used for various domestic activities that
would not be materially different to the proposed development.

The site abuts 1,9,11, 11a, 15 Oakland Grove, 151 and 157 Birmingham Road and 71,
73,75,77, 79 and 81 All Saints Road. The agent has provided a compliance plan, which
indicates numerous separation distances between the existing and proposed properties.
On the basis of the High Quality Design SPD, these distances are considered acceptable.

Page 78



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

Overall, with regards to privacy, there would be sufficient distance between the windows
in the proposed dwellings and the existing properties to ensure that any overlooking
would not have a significantly harmful effect on the living conditions of the neighbouring
occupants.

In summary, the overall resulting separation distances, garden depths and design would
ensure amenity and privacy levels would not be harmed between properties and there
would be no harm to neighbour amenity by way of overshadowing, overlooking or
overbearing impacts. Subject to the imposition of relevant conditions relating to obscure
glazing, landscaping and boundary treatment, the proposal is considered to accord with
Polices BDP1 and BDP19 of the BDP and the High Quality Design SPD.

Highways and Parking

Policy BDP16 requires that development should comply with Worcestershire County
Council's Transport policies, design guide and car parking standards as well as a series
of more specific development requirements.

The Highways Officer has provided comments in relation to the proposal and notes that
the site is in a sustainable location, within walking distance of amenities and bus stops.
The applicant has indicated 2.4m x 43m vehicular visibility splays which is acceptable
since a footpath fronting the site is more than 2.5m width and visibility is not impeded in
either direction. With regards to parking provision, three car parking spaces have been
indicated on the site plan for the 5 bed properties and two car parking spaces for the 3
bed properties which would meet the standards set out in Worcestershire County
Council's Streetscape Design Guide. Several properties also have a garage proposed for
extra parking/storage. Based upon this, it is not considered that the development will
impact on site street parking within Oakland Grove.

In view of the above the Highways Officer raises no objections to the proposal subject to
conditions.

Given the above, and with the application of the recommended conditions, the scheme is
compliant with Policy BDP16 of the Bromsgrove District Plan.

Drainage

The site falls within flood zone 1 (low risk of fluvial flooding) but does lie adjacent to an
area covered by flood zones 2 & 3 (high risk of fluvial flooding associated with the
Spadesbourne Brook). North Worcestershire Water Management (NWWM) note that they
hold no reports of flooding on the site itself, but NWWM records do indicate instances of
flooding in the local vicinity, associated with both the Spadesbourne Brook and surface
water runoff. This suggests that plots 1 & 2 may be at risk of flooding, however the
proposed measures to raise the finished floor levels 600mm above this are acceptable.

NWWM have no objections to the proposals, however, before any work commences a full

drainage investigation report should be produced to assess the viability of the site for
infiltration drainage as well as other conditions.

Page 79



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

Trees and Landscaping

It is considered that the attached details of the planted scheme and proposal for the tree
pit watering systems are acceptable and will ensure a suitable level of longer-term
sustainability. The planting scheme will create a suitable level of structure with the
proposed size of the stock to be provided and interest throughout the year.

The Tree Officer has no objection to the proposal subject to a condition securing the
proposed landscaping.

Ecology

The applicant has undertaken surveys to ascertain the presence of protected species on
the site. The Ecological Assessment Report confirms the presence of brown long eared
bat (by AMPA Associates Limited) within the roof void of 163 Birmingham Road. Roost
features for crevice dwelling bat species are also confirmed within 163 Birmingham Road.
No other significant habitats or potential for protected species relating to the Site are
identified within the Ecological Assessment Report. Ecology issues remain largely
unchanged from the previous approval and in that instance sufficient ecological
information had been submitted, including addressing third party concerns, to enable
determination of the application in line with the law and planning guidance, subject to
conditions. The proposal is therefore compliant with Policy BDP21 of the Bromsgrove
District Plan.

Contamination

WRS have reviewed records and documents associated with the above application, the
site is adjacent to a site with a contaminated land history and as such an unexpected
contamination condition is recommended.

The Planning Balance and Conclusion

Paragraph 8 of the NPPF defines sustainable development as having three dimensions:
economic, social and environmental. In this case, given the 5 year housing supply
shortfall, the presumption in favour of sustainable development for decision taking
means, the 'tilted balance' under paragraph 11 d) ii) applies. This does not change the
statutory status of the Local Plan as the starting point for decision making.

In view of the above assessment, it is considered that the proposal is District Plan
compliant apart from the housing mix policy, and reason is given above as to why the
application should not be refused on this ground alone. Furthermore, the application of
the 'tilted balance' means applying a presumption in favour of sustainable development
and granting permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against policies in the NPPF taken
as a whole. In terms of economic benefits, the proposal would make a contribution, to the
Council's supply of housing. It is also acknowledged that there would be some economic
benefits associated with the proposal during the construction phase and from occupants
supporting local shops and services. The proposal would also fulfil the environmental and
social dimensions of sustainable development, because the site is in a sustainable

Page 80



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

location, therefore reducing the requirement to travel by private vehicle and would
contribute to supporting a sustainable community.

In conclusion, the adverse impacts of this proposal, as discussed above would not
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal.

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be APPROVED

Conditions

1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date of the grant of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with the requirements of Section 91(1) of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
following plans and drawings:

120_01B_LOCATION PLAN

120 _10G_PROPOSED SITE PLAN
120 20D_PLOT 1

120 _21B_PLOT 2

120 22B_PLOT 3

120 _23C_PLOT 4

120 _24B_PLOT 5+6

120 _25C_PLOT 7

120 29A_PLOT 8

120 28 PLOT 3+7+8 GARAGE
Planting Proposals — M20 1425/L.02B
Proposed Site Access and Internal Arrangements - SKO01

Reason: To provide certainty to the extent of the development hereby approved in
the interests of proper planning.

3) Development shall be carried out in accordance with the materials specified on the
submitted Materials Schedule unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development is satisfactory in appearance, to
safeguard the visual amenities of the area.

4) The landscaping scheme detailed Planting Proposals — M20 1425/L02B - shall be
carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation of
any dwelling or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner.

Reason: To enhance the appearance of the development in the interest of the
visual amenities of the area.

Page 81



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

5) Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the
development or completion of the landscaping scheme pursuant to condition 4
(whichever is later) die, are removed or become, in the opinion of the Local
Planning Authority, seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced with others
of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written
consent to any variation. This replacement planting shall be undertaken before the
end of the first available planting season (October to March inclusive for bare root
plants), following the removal, uprooting, destruction or death of the original trees
or plants.

Reason: To ensure the environment of the development is improved and
enhanced.

6) All trees and hedges that are to be retained should be afforded protection in
accordance with BS5837:2012 recommendations and as defined within the Indigo
Surveys Ltd BS5837:2012 Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact Assessment and
Method Statement provide with the application throughout any demolition, ground
or development work on the site.

Reason: To ensure the environment of the development is improved and
enhanced.

7) No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological work
including a Written Scheme of Investigation, has been submitted to and approved
by the local planning authority in writing. The scheme shall include an assessment
of significance and research questions; and:

a) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording.

b) The programme for post investigation assessment.

c¢) Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording.

d) Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and
records of the site investigation

e) Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the
site investigation

f) Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the
works set out within the Written Scheme of Investigation.

The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post
investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme
set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation and the provision made for analysis,
publication and dissemination of results and archive deposition has been secured.

Reason: In accordance with the requirements of paragraph 199 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

8) No works or development shall take place until a scheme for a surface water
drainage strategy for the proposed development has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy shall include
details of surface water drainage measures, including for hard-standing areas, and
shall include the results of an assessment into the potential of disposing of surface

Page 82



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

water by means of a sustainable drainage system (SuDS). The scheme should
include run off treatment proposals for surface water drainage. Where the scheme
includes communal surface water drainage assets proposals for dealing with the
future maintenance of these assets should be included. The scheme should
include proposals for informing future home owners or occupiers of the
arrangements for maintenance of communal surface water drainage assets. The
approved surface water drainage scheme shall be implemented prior to the first
use of the development and thereafter maintained in accordance with the agreed
scheme.

Reason: The agreement of a scheme of surface water disposal prior to the
commencement of development is fundamental to safeguard against pollution and
flooding.

9) The permeable paving areas shall be maintained to facilitate the optimal
functionality and performance of the surface water drainage scheme. Permeable
surfaces shall not be replaced by impermeable surfaces without prior written
approval from the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To safeguard against flooding.

10) Finished floor levels within the development shall be set no lower than 600 mm
above the modelled 1 in 100 annual probability flood level, including an allowance
for climate change.

Reason: To safeguard against flooding.

11) In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment
Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'
and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in advance of the scheme
commencing.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme
a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of
the Local Planning Authority prior to development commencing other than that
required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation.

Reason: To ensure that the risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecosystems, and to ensure that the development can be
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other
offsite receptors.

12) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the first 5 metres of

the access into the development, measured from the edge of the carriageway, has
been surfaced in a bound material.

Page 83



Agenda Iltem 6

22/00116/FUL

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

13) The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until the each of the
proposed dwellings have been fitted with an electric vehicle charging point. The
charging points shall comply with BS EN 62196 Mode 3 or 4 charging and BS EN
61851 and the Worcestershire County Council Streetscape Design Guide. The
electric vehicle charging points shall be retained for the lifetime of the development
unless they need to be replaced in which case the replacement charging point(s)
shall be of the same specification or a higher specification in terms of charging
performance.

Reason: To encourage sustainable travel and healthy communities.

14) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the existing
vehicular accesses is permanently closed / reinstated (as required) in accordance
with details that shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic using the adjoining highway.

15)  All proposed works shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations
as set out in the Ecological Assessment Report and the Further Ecological
Information by AMPA Associates Limited.

Reason: To ensure that the proposal results in a net gain of biodiversity.

16) No development shall take place until a survey report and a method statement
setting out how the existing boundary walls are to be protected, maintained,
repaired, and stabilised during and after demolition and construction works, and
including details of any temporary support and structural strengthening or
underpinning works, shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The demolition and construction works shall be carried
out and completed fully in accordance with the approved method statement.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development.

Case Officer: Mr Paul Lester Tel: 01527 881323
Email: paul.lester@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Page 84



22/00116/FUL

163 - 165 Birmingham Road, land to the rear of
151 and 157 Birmingham Road and 73 All Saints
Road, Bromsgrove

Demolition of nos. 163 and 165 Birmingham
Road and construction of eight detached
dwellings.

Recommendation: Grant subject to conditions

0 Waj| epuaby



Sitey Location Plan

Agenda Iltem 6




Agenda Iltem 6

=
L
>
Q
=
I
)
(q0]
)




Existing Site Layout

o «

9 Wwa)| epuaby



Photographs

ﬂiﬂj III

163 Birmingham 165 Birmingham
Road Road

0 Waj| epuaby



06 abed

Photographs

163 & 165
Birmingham
Road

Rear of 163 &
165 Birmingham
Road

9 Wwa)| epuaby



T6 obed

Photographs

Rear Garden of 163
Birmingham Road
and view towards 1,
3,5, 7 &9 Oakland
Grove

Rear of 163
Birmingham Road
and view towards

9,11,11a and 15
Oakland Grove

9 Wwa)| epuaby



Photographs

157, 163 and 165
Birmingham Road

Bartleet House

9 Wwa)| epuaby



\\‘ "".I.l" rﬂ

Proposed Site Layout

‘ ;“ ‘\fl'\.j“" l / [ \\M

f

f

f

Collection
Peint /’ \\.



Kitchen

1500mm
2000mm :
! —g 44
 Cinema
2000mm
1500mm
| Proposed Ghnd Floor Plan Proposed First Floor Plan | Proposed Second Floor Plan
| Scale 1:50 Scale 1:50 [ 5cate 1:50

Proposed Rear Elevation

Proposed Side Elevation

D
Scale 1:100 Scale 1:100 g

Proposed Side Elevation
Scale 1:100




)= |
1| ! ] |
ol o |
Kitchen L 4 1 |
e I i S e |
1 ) . i . N
t = Bedroom 1 ¥ 1IN | 1
i g \ i I
| 1500mm T
! Dining Family | \ a0 / FI7o)
2000mm [| e / 2 '
1 N /i = —
l N A / |
| v b 4 v > A AR L2
-
| — e |
| ) 3 11 -
: Bedroom 2 ay § |Cinema |
| A —t |
200N 1
! AR BN == IS
2000mm / N\ T
| 7 \ |
1500mm S S
| Bl P |
| ! |
IR |
| KT )
I L
| L
B
(e}
| Proposed Ground Floor Plan Proposed First Floor Plan | Proposed Second Floor Plan
| Scale 1:50 Scale 1:50 [ Scate 1:50
M
]
3 [UEER 3 -
IS Proposed Side Elevation Proposed Side Elevation | Proposed Rear Elevation
H i'I L Scale 1:100 Scole 1:100 Scole 1:100 3

Proposed Front Elevation
Srale 1-580



Kitchen

0an

T
|
|
|
|
|
|
I

Dining

| Proposed Ground Floor Plan
| Scale 1:50

Proposed Side Elevation
Scale 1:100

Bedroom 3

v 25
“{| Bedroom 5

1500mm

2000mm

2000mm
1500mm

| Proposed Second Floor Plan

Proposed Side Elevation

Scaie 1:100

[ scate 1:50

Proposed Rear Elevation
Scale 1:100 m



D) )

Bedroom 3 £

Bedroom 2 &

| Dining
|
|
|

Kitchen

f

L AOtility\

83

\.

Dressing |

Snug

| Proposed Front Elevation

| Scale 150

| Proposed First Fioor Plan
[ Scale 1:50

Proposed Ground Floor Plan
Scole 1:50

9 Wwa)| epuaby

Proposed Rear Elevation

Proposed Side Elevation | Proposed Side Elevation




C7S BRI

Dining

§ Bedroom 3

é Family = |§
l \\ Bedroom 2

TN

/ N
\\ Kitchen st P4 ! =

4 [
5 frosiX i = Zamp= l —_

o ‘__/étility\ ! ,, SEEA

. ¥ Dowin L ..5) i
NN : '\\Bath +ill—.
3 /

| Proposed Front Elevation
| Scate 1:50

| Proposed Ground Floor Plan | Proposed First Floor Plan
| Scale 1:50 [ Scale 1:50

9 Wwa)| epuaby




Famil = —_
Fanily | = |
Fo | |
i (| ! f |
Kitchen 2 [ 5 i | :
CHREN (f I) [S—— | ip——— 3 [ N e ]
| i
U | e o o o o e s e e | ! [ e e ot e e el vt -
! Bedroom 1 AN t |
| i |
i 1500mm {
i 2000 ' AN T !
= mm AN / A .
Dining — I - \ St e E— +—
y ¥ A4 Voo
I e ko S down 3
- | —_— |
ms | = 13 -
| Bedroom 2 ot O [Cinema ~
| |
1 ~ ] |
a 1 B ZAN H
El i - 9 . N, + —— 1
2000mm ¥ 7/ \ 1
| / \
™, Study 1500mm —
\ L/ 4
| | s =
| L
s 4
N ' -
| S o4
| b
| § S
i oo
N
| Proposed Ground Floor Plan | Proposed Second Floor Plan
[ Scale 1:50 [ scate 1:50
M
= ) ()
4 B8
[ T
- — Proposed Side Elevation Proposed Side Elevation Proposed Rear Elevation
I _ﬁ Scole 1:100 Scale 1:100 Scale 1:100

| Aleatatanas | Dantolama ' | Fansbnss ol anablnn | Aaaart ' —



R ot . e SRS
|y i~ |
[ i I
[ i I |
Kitchen (11 E | |
RS (- f e e e
i N | S
! ! i Bedroom 1 § 1IN f P!
i 1500mm s
| \ “ / o I
. Budrooni 2000mm : o, Yl g
™ H] ' N ) ——y '
| ! NIz \ |
1 2 v VAN : [
Down
| I
| 3 2 I
s L L3- : —
| Bedroom 2 il % Cinema
= B2 |
Bedroom 5 | A —y |
| 230N
- s I N S T 1 e
2000mm 4 \
| i N\ |
1500mm —
:// |
Al
(11
Bedroom 4 [
‘ |
——
N S SRS
| Proposed Ground Floor Plan | Proposed Second Floor Plan
| Scafe 1:50 ['scate 1:50
M
5 n

Proposed Side Elevation Proposed Side Elevation Proposed Rear Elevation
Scale 1:100 Scale 1:100 Scale 1:100

9 way| epushby



Plots 3,7 & 8 Garages

Plot 7
Garage

Plot 3
Garage

Car Port
Parking Space

Garage

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Scole 1 IC‘@-U

| Proposed Ground Floor Plan
I s

cale 1:50

WET0)

Prop0§§175ide Elevation

¢ N

Proposed Side Elevation
Scole 1:50

Proposed Side Elevation
Scale 1.5

Scole

roposed Side Elevation
< 5

way ep

(@)
J

Proposed Front Elevation

Proposed Rear Elevation

Proposed Front Elevation

Proposed Rear Elevation



Shed l' L SN
' 0106
i e /@ L 10107
S~ s
Plot 3 :

5Bed "ww

/
~/ o F.
’
<

-~
Grewn
peacdiy

Bin Store

Bin Collection
Point
10084 /

| Parking

it '.

Compliance Plan

Grey Indicates,
Previousl




Compliance Plan

Bin Collection

Point
w0084/ \\

™~

/
osPloty 7
Parking

1,00 Chain Unk

0.0



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

Name of Applicant Proposal Expiry Date  Plan Ref.

Mr David Jones Detached double garage (retrospective) 27.05.2022 22/00483/FUL

1A St Catherines Road, Blackwell,
Bromsgrove, B60 1BN

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be REFUSED
Councillor Janet King has requested that this application be considered by the
Planning Committee rather than being determined under delegated powers

Consultations

Lickey And Blackwell Parish Council

Lickey and Blackwell Parish Council object to this retrospective application as we have
done before when it has been refused permission previously. We feel that it is too large
on an already extended property, unduly prominent in the street scene and not in keeping
with the surrounding properties.

Publicity
Six neighbours notified by letter 07.04.2022. Expired 01.05.2022
No comments received

Cllr J. E. King

| see the garage almost daily as | walk in Blackwell village and it is a well designed and
constructed little building well hidden from the street scene by mature laurel hedging. It
does not harm the street scene and blends well with the improved house. The height is
not excessive and does not harm the amenity of the neighbouring dwelling, the
convenience store at 65 Greenhill. The owners have made an effort to make the frontage
of their family home attractive.

| strongly support this retrospective application and wish that all new builds were as
heedful of their surroundings. Should your decision be to refuse permission, | wish to call
the application to Committee.

Relevant Policies

Bromsgrove District Plan
BDP1 Sustainable Development Principles
BDP19 High Quality Design

Others

Lickey and Blackwell and Cofton Hackett Neighbourhood Plan
Bromsgrove High Quality Design SPD

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework (2021)

Page 105



Agenda Item 7

Plan reference 22/00483/FUL

Relevant Planning History

21/00321/FUL  Retrospective planning permission fora Refused 26.04.2021
detached double garage to the front of
the property

19/00527/FUL  Roof alterations including front and rear ~ Granted 05.06.2019
dormer windows (amendment to
approval 18/01469/FUL)

18/01469/FUL Loft conversion with dormer windows Granted 11.01.2019

17/01401/FUL  Free standing garage Refused 26.02.2018

Assessment of Proposal

The property is detached and is situated at a road junction with ‘Greenhill’ to the south,
and St Catherine’s Rd to the east. Access to the property is via St. Catherine’s Rd.

The property was constructed in the 1970’s as a single storey bungalow. A loft
conversion which included the insertion of several dormer windows has been
implemented following the granting of planning permission for these works in 2019, as set
out in the planning history above.

The site lies within a residential area comprised of houses dating from varying periods.

An earlier application for a detached garage in this location of the site was submitted
under planning ref 17/01401/FUL and was refused planning permission on 26.02.2018 for
the following reason:

‘The proposed garage by reason of its siting and scale is considered to be contrary to the
pattern of development locally and consequently would appear unduly prominent within
the street scene thereby materially harming the character of the area contrary to Policy
BDP19 of the Bromsgrove District Plan and the NPPF'

Despite this, a detached garage was erected in this location. A new planning application
was submitted on 01.03.2021 (planning ref 21/00321/FUL) seeking the retention of the
garage. This retrospective application was refused planning permission on 26.04.2021
with no appeal being lodged.

The current application ref 22/00483/FUL was submitted on 01.04.2022, again, seeking
its retention.

No.la St Catherine’s Road sits at the end of a row of dwellings which are mostly
detached and are well set-back from the highway. The application site, like its neighbour,
1 St Catherine’s Road has a substantial front garden, and a characteristic and consistent
building line exists.

Page 106



Agenda Item 7

Plan reference 22/00483/FUL

The host dwellings’ plan form and plot size is similar to that of No. 1 St Catherine’s Road
and No. 3 St Catherine’s Road which are situated to the north.

The garage is substantial in size and is positioned approximately 8.4m forward of the
dwellings' principal elevation. It is located within close proximity of the St Catherine’s
Road / Greenhill junction. The garage is considered to be prominent in appearance and
the siting of a substantial garage adjacent to the highway is considered to be at odds with
the pattern of development locally. Consequently, the garage appears as an unduly
dominant and obtrusive feature at the core of the village, harming the street scene in this
highly prominent location. In this regard, | respectfully disagree with Cllr Kings’ assertions
that the building is small, well-hidden and does not have an adverse impact upon the
street scene.

| have noted that Lickey and Blackwell Parish Council have objected to the application,
commenting that the garage is too large and that earlier applications have been refused
planning permission.

In summary, the garage as erected is unduly prominent within the street scene at odds
with the pattern of development locally, harming the character and appearance of the
area. Approval of this application would conflict with Policy BDP19 of the Bromsgrove
District Plan and Policy BD2 of the Lickey and Blackwell and Cofton Hackett
Neighbourhood Plan which amongst other matters, collectively require that development
enhances the character and distinctiveness of the local area and provide support for well-
designed proposals that are in keeping with their surroundings.

The application would be inconsistent with guidance set out within the Councils High
Quality Design SPD which advises that outbuildings set forward of the principal elevation

will not usually be appropriate as it may harm the character of the street scene. It would
also be contrary to the provisions of the NPPF which seek well-designed places.

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be REFUSED

Reason for Refusal

1) The garage by reason of its siting, scale and appearance is considered to be
contrary to the pattern of development locally and consequently appears unduly
prominent within the street scene thereby materially harming the character of the
area contrary to Policy BDP19 of the Bromsgrove District Plan; the Councils High
Quiality Design SPD; the provisions of the Lickey and Blackwell and Cofton
Hackett Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Case Officer: Steven Edden Tel: 01527 548474
Email: steve.edden@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



60T 9bed

22/00483/FUL

Detached double garage (retrospective)

1A St Catherine's Rd, Blackwell, Bromsgrove B60 1BN

Recommendation:
Planning Permission is REFUSED

) Wal| epuaby



Site Location

Page 110

9532

Agenda ltem 7




Aerial View

St. Cathfe[ine's Church

@&/ ¢

2
Blackwell o

Convenience'Store B &
Convenience Store

N

Blackwell o .11f
Convenience Store
Convenience Store




ZTT obed

Block Plan

) Wid]| epuaby



€TT abed

)

Floor Plan and elevations

) Wal| epuaby



's Rd

Ine

St Cather

1

ion

Locat

Photographs

2\ LW”‘ ; .I-

LB

o
\\.y FX

23 X

NG Ll :

Agenda ltem 7




Photographs: Location 2: St Catherine's Rd

) Wal| epuaby



9TT obed

Photographs: Location 3: Station Rd

) Wal| epuaby



/1T abed

Photograph locations

) Wal| epuaby



View of site at May 2019. Image courtesy of Google

Image capture: M

) Wal| epuaby



	Agenda
	3 To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 11th April 2022
	5 20/00643/FUL - Full Planning Permission for the use of land for the stationing of 90 static residential park homes for the over 55s, with associated parking, internal service roads, and landscaping and acoustic fence to the north, east and west boundaries - Corbett Business Park, Shaw Lane, Stoke Prior, Bromsgrove, Worcestershire, B60 4EA - Mongoose Ltd
	Officer Presentation 20.00643.FUL

	6 22/00116/FUL - Demolition of no's. 163 & 165 Birmingham Road and construction of eight detached dwellings.163 - 165 Birmingham Road, land to the rear of 151 and 157 Birmingham Road and 73 All Saints Road, Bromsgrove - William & Jane and S. Thorn and Campbell
	Officer Presentation 22.00116.FUL

	7 22/00483/FUL - Detached double garage (retrospective) - 1A St Catherines Road, Blackwell, Bromsgrove, B60 1BN - Mr. D. Jones
	Officer Presentation 22.00483.FUL


